A Growing Transgender Population

An Analysis of Medical and Cultural Drivers

Camilla Elizabeth Collington-Hanna



Master Thesis

Department of Psychology

University of Oslo

Spring 2022

A Growing Transgender Population:

An analysis of medical and cultural drivers

Copyright Camilla Elizabeth Collington-Hanna

2022

A Growing Transgender Population: An analysis of medical and cultural drivers

Camilla Elizabeth Collington-Hanna

http://www.duo.uio.no

Print: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo

Abstract

Author's name: Camilla Elizabeth Collington-Hanna

Title: A Growing Transgender Population: An analysis of medical and cultural drivers

Supervisor: Ole Jacob Madsen

Today, people who feel a mismatch between subjective gender and bodily sex have come to the fore in public debate. In particular, the transgender population's growth is attributed to increasing rates of clinic-referred female youth who feel distress in relation to their natal sex (gender dysphoria). While "transgender" denotes the experience of a cognitive and bodily gender incongruence, not all suffer distress. Independently of dysphoric distress, transgender people may seek medical interventions align their bodies with felt gender. Causal factors implicated in gender dysphoria and transgender identity are not well understood. Therefore, the present thesis seeks to extract driving factors in the number of young people who experience gender dysphoria, identify as transgender, and seek medical interventions. A range of sources are employed to explore this topic; scientific research, expert opinion and clinical experience, as well as other relevant voices and fora. Three main areas are of interest: (1) the diagnostic depathologising of transgender identities, (2) emergent gender identity theory, and (3) the popularisation of Gender Affirmative treatment. Within these developments, medicine and culture share mutual influence.

Less stringent diagnostic criteria put more young people into contact with the diagnoses of gender dysphoria and gender incongruence. Lowered diagnostic thresholds can inflate the number who receive the diagnoses and youth may encounter vague diagnostic descriptions online. With changes in cultural perceptions of gender and rejection of the gender binary, gender identity increasingly holds authority over biological sex and gender seems to be presented as a psychological project of self-perception. With less focus on bodily reality, young people may employ stereotypical masculine and feminine traits to inform their gender identity. Taken together, medicine and culture has facilitated a novel gender-landscape within which youth need to navigate. These processes can be seen as promoting the Gender Affirmative Model which focuses on confirming gender identity assertions and providing treatment. A possible consequence is bypassing alternative explanations for gender dysphoria, transgender identity, and transition-desire arise. The identified drivers in medical and cultural aspects of transgender topics appear to lead to produce growing rates of transgender identification and intensified focus on medical transitions.

Table of Contents

A Growing Transgender Population	1
Method	4
1. Depathologising Transgender Identities	7
Diagnostic Evolution	7
The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM)	7
International Classification of Diseases (ICD)	9
A New Conceptualisation of Transgender Identities	10
Comorbidities and Gender Dysphoria	11
The Role of Psychiatry for Gender Dysphoria	14
Diagnostic Inflation and Concept Creep	18
Diluting Diagnostic Criteria Online	19
2. Gender Identity Theory & Culture	23
Gender Identity Theory	23
Historical Roots of Gender Identity Theory	25
Postmodernism and Queer Theory	26
Gender Identity in a Human Rights Paradigm	29
Separating the Mind from the Body	30
The Postmodern Turn	31
A Return to Biology	32
Highlighting Gender Stereotypes	35
3. Gender Affirmation & Treatment	38
The Gender Affirmative Model	38
Interventions	40
Critique of Other Clinical Approaches	42
"Conversion Therapy"	43
"Gatekeeping"	48

Affirmation and Informed Consent	51
Conclusion	57

A Growing Transgender Population

In the past decade, transgender phenomena have become markedly visible in news and media, while being a topic of great debate. Transgender people typically experience a mismatch between their inner sense of gender belonging and physical body. For some, this mismatch can cause psychological distress, known as gender dysphoria, motivating them to seek physical alterations to align their bodies with internal perceptions. Prior to the mid-2000's, clinics across the Western world report seeing one or two patients a year, but now, an unprecedent number of treatment-seeking individuals are observed (see Zucker, 2019). Whereas clinicians and experts are mostly familiar with a transgender trajectory starting in childhood, with persistent cross-sex identification and associated distress continuing into adolescence, a new patient group has emerged. The majority of those presenting in gender clinics today are female adolescents, many of whom appear to have no prior history of gender-related distress (Littman, 2018). How might this novel segment of the transgender population be understood?

The causal factors implicated in the genesis of transgender identities are not well understood, but professionals agree its manifestation is likely caused by the intricate interweaving of psychological, social, and biological factors (Ruble et al., 2006). With respect to contemporary transgender manifestations, explanations often point to greater societal acceptance for those who do not fit with gender norms, wide-spread information about the condition, as well as advancements in transgender treatment (Zucker, 2019). References to new frameworks focused on affirming transgender identities are also noted, in addition to gender clinics popping up across the West with clinicians knowledgeable of the needs of this population. These developments likely allow young people to come out as transgender and seek help in less psychologically taxing ways. Still, are the rising rates of females presenting in clinics sufficiently explained by the above developments?

The perplexing surge of clinic referrals have motivated some to questioned the explanatory ability of the abovementioned factors. Not only is the young female demographic growing; a complete inversion of the male to female sex ratio is observed. The UK's Gender Identity Development Service (GIDS) report significant increases in female adolescents presenting at their clinic (Aitken et al., 2015). Norway and Sweden report marked increases as well (Socialstyrelsen, 2020; Wæhre & Tønset, 2018). A Toronto clinic reports a male majority until 2005, but after 2016, the male to female ratio was 1:2.13 (Aitken et al., 2015). A Finish clinic reports a remarkably skewed ratio of 1:6.83 (Sumia et al., 2017). Given the

historical predominance of males in gender clinics and the relative absence of young females without histories of childhood gender identity issues in the literature until 2012 (Wood et al., 2013; Zucker, Bradley, et al., 2012), I find myself both intrigued and curious as to other drivers possibly explaining the "new generation" of transgender people.

Conflicting research regarding the benefits of transitioning via hormonal therapy and surgical interventions exacerbate this discussion. In terms of benefits and efficacy, data show varied results and is often burdened by a range of limitations; research on adolescent-onset gender dysphoria and associated outcomes is sparser still. Notwithstanding, persistent political and cultural pressure has successfully brought about an impressive number of changes aiming to reduce stigma and adversity facing the transgender population, one of which is increased access to biomedical treatment (Levine, 2021). Culturally, new conceptualisations of gender identity as privileged over biological sex, and as one's true identity generates a conflicting situation for clinicians.

While constituting a highly controversial topic, investigating the mechanisms potentially relevant to the interpretation of gender dysphoric distress, conclusions about having a transgender identity, and subsequent treatment-desire, warrants academic attention. I here question whether the progress made risks limiting insights from critical voices, information about alternative therapies, and promote self-fulfilling treatment approaches intensely focused on affirmation and transition. In light of growing reports of detransitioners, especially after 2016, taking a moment to carefully consider these rapid developments is necessary.

This thesis aims to extract cultural and medical drivers encouraging increasing rates of clinic-referrals, with specific reference to the female population, within three overarching developments: (1) Depathologisation, (2) Gender identity theory, and (3) The Gender Affirmative Model for transgender treatment. I will outline and discuss these processes as self-reinforcing events contributory in facilitating further increasing rates of clinic-referrals, while drawing on the young females' vulnerabilities for erroneous interpretations in the current cultural and clinical context.

With respect to depathologisation, I will depart from two diagnostic systems and outline changes leading to a new conceptualisation of transgender identities as non-pathological, but burdened by societal stigma and societal marginalisation. With positive intentions the various advocacy groups have seemingly settled questions about the GD

condition without support from scientific evidence. The inherent non-pathology or pathology of GD will be discussed, before evaluating depathologisation as a reinforcing mechanism for higher rates of clinic-referred young people through diagnostic inflation, especially in the online material presenting GD is vague ways.

Within the current topic, cultural themes and medicine are inextricably linked in the rapid development that have taken place. Therefore, observing cultural changes in views about gender seem necessary in order to explore how gender identity as a subjective and intrapsychic project has come to be accepted widely. This framework is referenced as a theory because the concept of gender identity remains unverifiable and cannot be measured. Despite this, inner sense of gender enjoys growing acceptance as the appropriate informant for gender, replacing sex in many instances. Of interest is the possible result of encouraging young people to evaluate gender psychologically, removed from physical information. The legal recognition of gender identity in policies and international human rights have impacted newer treatment approaches to be organised around affirmation and treatment to allow authentic gender expression.

The combination of depathologisation and gender identity theory will be explored as facilitating a treatment protocol dedicated to affirming innate and authentic gender identities without unnecessary psychological evaluations before offering access to treatment. Two other approaches to treatment are described in a discussion linked to two main controversies regarding "conversion therapy" and "gatekeeping." These controversies have been significant in further promoting the popularisation of gender affirmative methods focused on treatment. A final discussion contends with the clinical focus on obtaining informed consent to initiate medical treatment and the possible pitfalls of centring informed consent as the requirement.

Taken together, I am motivated to outline main developments in culture and medicine that fuel and promote one single outcome: transgender identification and treatment access. The progress made here is wide-reaching with implications for the transgender population, as well as every gendered person in society. Transgender phenomena are heavily debated and part of a "culture war" which seems to distract and confuse. My motivation rests in the desire to provide an honest and comprehensive account for the developments noted above, with the hope of speaking truthfully about matters possibly putting vulnerable young lives in harm's way.

Method

Initially, a broad and exploratory approach gathered insights from a range of perspectives on causal factors implicated in rising rates of gender dysphoria and transgender identities in a Western context. In search engines and databases, "gender dysphoria," "gender incongruence," and "transgender" were among the search words I used, in combination with "prevalence," "aetiology," and "epidemiology." In addition, recently published books on the topic aided my introduction to the field and offered various viewpoints. Together, recent books and relevant scientific articles let to new material of relevance. Through the sources first consulted, it became clear much is unknown about the genesis of transgender identities and gender dysphoria. Even less known about the drivers of contemporary manifestations starting sometime after the onset of puberty; the literature has only recently begun to describe these trajectories. Realising this, in addition to the mutual influence of medicine and culture relating to transgender phenomena, a theoretical thesis seemed promising. While extant research in this field is wanting and new research efforts should be encouraged, it is my impression current debate lacks appropriate sensitivity to pivotal developments scaffolding the transgender population's presentation today.

As the hypotheses and possible causal factors present in the literature often rely on expert opinion and clinical experience, this thesis does so too. With regard to scientific studies, a challenge presents itself as the most robust data lacks generalisability to contemporary transgender trajectories, while new research quickly becomes outdated as it is contradicted by other findings. When relevant, this thesis attempts to utilise recent and up to date literature. In search for drivers promoting rising rates of young people experiencing gender dysphoria and identify as transgender, studies or perspectives suggesting its genesis in adverse life-experiences or in a context of confusion, do not appear to be favoured. Fear of such findings as ammunition to deny the transgender experience is perhaps understandable, but nonetheless valuable for an elevated understanding for those without nefarious intent. Transgender advocacy groups and LGBT organisations have offered important insights in this regard, while informing other themes as well.

Transgender phenomena's presence in public debate have made these identities subject to interpretation by many voices from various backgrounds. In addition to scientific studies, expert opinion and clinical experience, I make use of insights from medicine, psychology, philosophy, and biology as well. In order to describe and evaluate the complex themes touched upon in this thesis, each chapter will include a discussion of the relevant topic.

In order to gain insights about the process of depathologising transgender identities, the DSM and ICD serve as points of departure. I account for the changes made since the earliest diagnostic appearance of "transsexualism" in both manuals, and describe how the condition is currently presented. With insights from clinicians and other voices relevant to medicine and psychiatry, I discuss how gender dysphoria may and may not be seen as a mental disorder. Through the s diagnostic inflation framework and concept creep, I evaluate whether the online presentation of this diagnosis can promote increasing clinic-referrals and transgender identification among youth. Insights from detransitioners, clinicians, and research inform this evaluation, in addition to my own exploration of online forums and communities. The vastness of the internet is a challenge and a limited presentation will therefore be offered.

Throughout initial reading, the cultural and theoretical influence on contemporary transgender conceptualisations became evident. After describing current notions of gender identity theory, that is, contemporary beliefs about psychological gender, I explore preceding cultural developments through the feminist movement and queer theory, in addition to human rights documents to elucidate how gender identity became salient. Gender identity theory does not constitute a united front, and some themes are contradictory. Nonetheless, the cultural and ideological developments bear mentioning even if challenging to describe comprehensively. I discuss more profoundly what gender identity really means and evaluate the attempts to account for mind-body conflict in gender dysphoria.

Bearing in mind transgender people have only presented in clinics since the 50's and that new, dissimilar trajectories manifest today, sources describing treatment protocols and adjustments necessary to accommodate rising transition requests informed this chapter. While this chapter centres on the Gender Affirmative Protocol, it became necessary to account for earlier and co-existing approaches to transgender treatment. Thus, those considered experts in the field and their descriptions of treatment approaches are employed here. The inextricable link to cultural shifts relating to gender broadly, and gender identity theory specifically, has engendered two central controversies concerning "conversion therapy" and "gatekeeping," which impact the popularisation gender affirmation and transitions. There are likely other sources able to offer additional insight, but have remained outside the scope of this thesis.

Throughout the process of becoming familiar with this topic, personal concern for the invasive treatments some young people desire to undergo promoted a critical perspective, which has likely come to affect how the sources are reported. While I am anxious about the

reception of this work, I question these methods being practiced in a context of scientific ignorance. Despite my position as an outsider to transgender and LGBTQ+ communities, I remain a young woman empathic to the various challenges facing the younger generation of females. Both positions may influence the collection of material and the way this is reported.

Depathologising Transgender Identities

Some fifty years ago, those presenting in clinics with a desire to transition to a new gender were perceived by some clinicians to have a rare and somewhat new form of psychopathology. The desire and longing to transition were speculated to manifest due to a need for resolving underlying problems that remained unidentified and stemming from some psychological problematic circumstances in childhood. This reasoning was concordant with psychodynamic understanding of development; "every behaviour has antecedents" (Levine, 2018, p. 29). When patients believed they could live happier and more fulfilling lives as the other gender, many were concerned this hope was naïve and their optimism for transitioning unrealistic in terms of bringing about the desired outcome (Meyer, 1982). Today, these clinical perspectives are considered outdated, but at the time, transgender people constituted an unfamiliar phenomenon. Since then, significant developments have occurred, both in medical and clinical perceptions, as well as in the broader culture.

Diagnostic Evolution

Since the introduction of "transsexualism" in the Diagnostic Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-III; American Psychiatric Association, 1980) and the International Classification of Disease (World Health Organization, 1990), both manuals have undergone significant revisions with respect to gender-related diagnoses. With limited research, reliance on expert opinion, and varying clinical experience, in addition to advocacy concerned with the poor outcomes associated with transgender people, newer editions have had to manage a host of challenges (Beek et al., 2016).

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM)

In 1980, when DSM-III was published, the diagnosis of transsexualism first appeared and was located in the chapter of Psychosexual Disorders. For children, gender identity disorder was used (APA, 1980). DSM-V collapsed all gender identity-related diagnoses into one category called gender identity disorders, with different criteria sets for adults and adolescents, and children (Bradley et al., 1991). DSM-5 replaced gender identity disorders with gender dysphoria, designated in a chapter of the same name, thereby removing it from its earlier categorisation with paraphilias and sexual dysfunctions. Different sets of criteria for adults, adolescents, and children remained (Zucker et al., 2013). Gender dysphoria (hereafter GD) denotes the distressing experience resulting from a discordance between experienced or expressed gender, and biological sex (APA, 2013). GD was thought to better reflect the core issue of the condition, pointing to the gender identity-related distress that some transgender

individuals feel, rather than pathologizing transgender identities or gender variance (Drescher, 2010).

According to DSM-5, when a marked incongruence between one's experienced or expressed gender and assigned gender is exhibited for at least six months, and at least two of six criteria are met, a diagnosis can be given (APA, 2013). This incongruence can manifest in the following ways: a marked discordance with primary and secondary sex characteristics based on experienced gender; a strong desire to be rid of one's sex characteristics; a strong desire to have the sex characteristics of the other gender; a strong desire for one's sex characteristics to be of the other gender; a strong desire to be the other gender; a strong desire to be treated as the other gender; and an insistent belief that one already has the typical feelings and reactions of the other gender (APA, 2013). When the DSM-5 references the opposite gender, this is followed by a bracketed reference to alternative genders different from birth-sex. Also, in relation to discomfort with sex characteristics, DSM-5 includes for young adolescents the desire to prevent the development of secondary sex characteristics (Cohen-Kettenis & Pfäfflin, 2010).

In the revision process of DSM-III, the lack of data resulted in a reliance on individuals considered experts in the field for delimiting exclusion and inclusion criteria (Zucker & Spitzer, 2005). DSM-IV's work group tasked with refining the diagnostic criteria remained conservative and did not rely on expert opinion for any alterations, but rather the data and studies available (Shaffer et al., 1989). The current DSM-5 relied more on new available data and analyses, as earlier revisions used research almost 50 years old (Beek et al., 2016). Several alterations occurred in DSM-5, largely due to pressure from critics who felt identity was being pathologized, rather than the disorder itself (e.g., Bartlett et al., 2000; Meyer-Bahlburg, 2010).

Whereas earlier DSM versions used dichotomous language when referencing gender identities and gender roles as male or female, DSM-5 view these concepts as spectrums (Zucker et al., 2013). "Sex" was replaced with "gender," and "assigned gender" replaced "biological sex". With regard to diagnostic specifiers, some notable changes occurred. DSM-III included a transsexual subtype designated by sexual orientation. The previously called "homosexual subtype" captured males with female gender identities attracted to others of the same biological sex. Some, including transgender people, however, felt the specifier was offensive and failed to acknowledge gender identity (Beek et al., 2016). In addition, clinicians

were unsure of the appropriate reference point for sexual orientation; gender identity or biological sex (Bradley et al., 1991). Despite critique, DSM-IV retained a sexual orientation-specifier, using different terminology: "attracted towards males, females, both, neither, unspecified." Preserving the specifier was considered necessary as it appeared important for clinical management and research (Bradley et al., 1991, p. 340). DSM-5 removed the specifier as it was not viewed clinically valuable anymore (Cohen-Kettenis & Pfäfflin, 2010).

Another specifier was added in DSM-5 relevant for those who had undergone at least one transition-related intervention, for example cross-sex hormone therapy (Reed et al., 2016). This was used to ensure access to continued health care even if GD had rescinded, indicating the possibility of "losing" the diagnosis (Zucker et al., 2013). A criterion was added in DSM-IV due to concern of false-positives: "the disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning" (Spitzer & Wakefield, 1999, p. 1856; Zucker et al., 2013). This "clinical significance" criterion is used in DSM-5, and was added to a range of mental health disorders as well (Beek et al., 2016).

International Classification of Diseases (ICD)

In 1990, the diagnoses transsexualism for adults and adolescents, and gender identity disorder of childhood for children appeared in ICD-10 (Drescher et al., 2016; WHO, 1990). Both diagnoses were listed under the chapter of Mental Disorders and Behavioural Disorder. More than 30 years after ICD-10's approval, ICD-11 was accepted in 2018 and implemented in 2022 by the World Health Organisation (Gaebel et al., 2022). Its more recent publishing means more dramatic changes have occurred, compared to the gradual changes in found in DSM-5 (Reed et al., 2016). Two significant changes appeared in ICD-11: First, gender incongruence has come to replace the abovementioned conditions. Second, the condition is relocated to a new chapter entitled Conditions Relating to Sexual Health (WHO, 2018).

ICD-11 defines gender incongruence as a marked and persistent discordance between the gender felt or experienced and biological sex (WHO, 2018). Gender incongruence of adolescence and adulthood cannot be diagnosed until the onset of puberty and two of a total four essential features must be met, and present for several months (Reed et al., 2016). The criteria of gender incongruence is described as followed: strong dislike or discomfort with primary sex characteristics; a desire to be rid of some or all of one's primary and secondary sex characteristics; a strong desire to have the sex characteristics of the experienced gender;

and the strong desire to be treated as a member of the experienced gender (WHO, 2018) The second criterion, like DSM-5, notes the anticipated development of sex characteristics.

As only two criteria must be met for adolescents and adults, ICD-11 allows for a diagnosis to be placed even when there is no gender dysphoric distress. This edition also places less emphasis on the distressing quality of incongruence (Beek et al., 2016). ICD-11 acknowledges that impairment or distress may not be part of gender incongruence, although it often is. If clinically significant distress is present in relation to important life-areas, ICD-11 notes this is likelier to occur in disapproving social environments or where protective policies are lacking. In such environments, individuals with GI are more vulnerable to psychiatric problems like social isolation, employment loss, victimisation or violence (Drescher et al., 2016). For those, however, who do not experience any impairment or distress, the GI diagnosis will offer access to health services. Furthermore, ICD-11 does not through its diagnostic criteria assume all gender incongruent people desire to physically transition to the opposite gender signalled by similar terminology changes in DSM-5 (Reed et al., 2016).

A New Conceptualisation of Transgender Identities

The recent changes in diagnostic labels and designation describing discordance between bodily sex and felt gender are described in the literature as oriented around two central challenges (Reed et al., 2016). First, transgender people appeared to suffer a double burden as their identities were subject to stigma, as well as burdened by having a mental disorder. Therefore, a diagnostic depathologisation process was thought necessary to remedy both burdens. Secondly, depathologising misaligned gender identities needed to ensure continued access to health care services, as these require a diagnosis to offer treatment tailored to the specific needs of a condition.

DSM-5's contribution to depathologisation of transgender identities is most evident in its focus on the distress deriving from discordance between natal sex and experienced gender; highlighting the distress component as a constitutive part of the condition was thought to better reflect the central problem experienced by some transgender people (Zucker, 2010). While still regarded as a mental disorder, DSM-5's diagnosis does not pathologise identity, per se. This is furthermore evident in the inclusion of a specifier indicating access to treatment may be continued without gender dysphoric distress. In other words, it is possible to "lose" the diagnosis, but remain in treatment.

ICD-11 has pioneered the effort to depathologise transgender identities more thoroughly. While still included as a condition, this is only for the purpose of eliciting health service access and funding by governments (Reed et al., 2016). In a statement regarding the ICD-11, the WHO explain their redefinition of gender identity health mirrors the evidence that transgender identity is not mental illness, and its classification as mental disorder can cause immense stigma (WHO, n. d.). Consequently, the WHO views misalignment between body and felt gender to represent variation in normal human development, which may or may not be accompanied by distress.

Prior to ICD-11, large organisations and health authorities had issued similar stances. Already in 2011, the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (WPATH) declared in their Standards of Care (SoC, 7) there is no inherent psychopathology in transgender individuals (Coleman et al., 2011). In 2012, the American Psychiatric Association (Drescher & Haller, 2012, p. 1) announced in a position statement on discrimination against transgender and gender variant people, that these identities imply no "impairment in judgement, stability, reliability, or general social or vocational capabilities". The statement also notes the disproportionate discrimination endured by those with atypical gender identity and expression due to the lack of protective civil rights policies.

Such a view was motivated by persistent advocacy by member states in the European Union, national- and local organisations. Because the transgender- and gender variant population have been burdened by the stigma attached to mental illness, the excessive rates of discrimination, victimisation, and violence (Testa et al., 2017; Testa et al., 2012) were seen as primarily a result the condition's inclusion in diagnostic manuals (Independent Expert, 2018). In light of societal stigma, the focus afforded to the poor outcomes of transgender people is important. The mental health of transgender people is thought to be significantly impacted by such experiences, producing elevated rates of cooccurring mental health problems like depression and anxiety, in addition to significant suicide risk (Testa et al., 2017).

Comorbidities and Gender Dysphoria

The new perspective of transgender or gender-variant identities as normal developmental diversity has permeated into wider society and is largely accepted (Independent Expert, 2018). This view, however, assumes elevated rates of psychiatric comorbidities are due to societal stigma and negative attitudes toward gender nonconformity. For example, unaccepting and hostile responses from the social environment may become

internalised attitudes about oneself and lead to self-hatred manifesting as internalised transphobia (Coleman et al., 2011; Levine, 2021). Additional mental health problems, like mood disorders, self-harm, and suicidal ideation (de Vries et al., 2011), are therefore assumed alleviated through reduced societal stigma. While the existence of well-functioning transgender people without GD supports this notion (Askevis-Leherpeux et al., 2019), experts and clinicians have as of yet not reached consensus, nor is there an adequate evidential basis to support the inherent non-pathology in GD (Levine, 2021).

When questions about misaligned gender identities' inherent abnormality are voiced, parallels to the harmful psychiatric policies attempting to change non-heterosexual orientations are drawn. Consequently, opposing views risk reifying flawed policies (Levine, 2021). In the lead-up to ICD-11, many transgender people were hopeful that transsexualism would be eliminated like homosexuality when it was depathologised by the APA in 1973 (Drescher, 2010). Sexual- and gender minorities may face social punishment for diverting from heteronormative and non-transgender norms (see Hidalgo et al., 2013). Thus, by drawing on the historical trajectory of increased acceptance toward lesbian, gay, and bisexual people (LGB), a similar outcome is expected for transgender people (Drescher, 2010). The literature frequently describes the adverse outcomes of transgender people by referencing research on the adverse outcomes for LGB people (Coleman et al., 2011; Rafferty, 2018). Considering atypical gender identities to be the same as non-heterosexual orientations has arguably influenced new perspectives on transgender identities, while promoting depathologisation as the remedy. The elision of sexual orientation and gender identity, however, may orient focus away from important questions that remain unanswered about GD.

Currently, there is little agreement among experts and clinicians regarding the high rates of psychiatric disorders present in many transgender people (Levine, 2021). The contested question of whether transgender identities represent normal variation in gender expression or an inherent pathology, divide clinicians and experts (Vrouenraets et al., 2016). Some clinicians question whether the presence of mental illness allow for a view of misaligned gender identities as entirely normal (e.g., Levine, 2018; Cretella, 2016; McHugh, 2017). The available literature cannot adequately explain the developmental trajectory of untreated gender identity discordance, nor the ways in which treatment alters this course. Without understanding the natural history, no one can confidently claim to know whether such identities are inherently limiting, cause disability, or permanent deficit (Levine, 2021). While the term comorbidity is commonly employed, clinicians cannot with certainty claim the

presence of additional issues is entirely separate from, or integral to, GD and the desires of the patient to transition (Levine, 2021).

The additional psychiatric disorders in transgender people guided initial speculations of psychopathology and for decades, gender incongruent people were thought to have abnormal development (Mayer & McHugh, 2016). Clinicians who adhere to this understanding may view the manifestation of transgender identities as an unrealistic, yet a well-intentioned attempt to resolve underlying issues. Support for such a view comes from research indicating a persisting need for psychiatric help after a transition (Bränström & Pachankis, 2020a, 2020b; Dhejne et al., 2016; Simonsen et al., 2016). The literature suggests transgender people are a particularly vulnerable group in need of several protections (Liszewski et al., 2018). Moreover, suicide-risk is also observed to be worryingly high after transitioning (Dhejne et al., 2011) and even in more accepting societies today, the rates do not appear to diminish (Herman et al., 2019). When transgender patients with persistent psychiatric symptoms, accompanied by frequent suicidal ideation seek help, asking how GD represents developmental diversity is warranted (Levine, 2021).

To illustrate the above view, insight from other mental health disorders presenting with a strong desire for bodily alterations can be gained. Three mental disorders appear to share with GD a desire to physically change the body to align an inner sense of identity with external reality. For example, individuals with anorexia nervosa have an intense fear of fatness and believe themselves to be obese (Guarda, 2008). In a clinical setting, this belief is considered erroneous and in conflict with objective reality. A successful remedy to this psychiatric issue would be to correct mistaken beliefs and align subjective perceptions with bodily reality (Cretella, 2016). Arguably, few mental health professionals would suggest a calorie-restrictive diet plan or liposuction.

Similarly, individuals with body dysmorphic disorder (BDD) believes mistakenly they are unattractive. This disorder is often accompanied by great emotional distress and a desire for "corrections" to be made to their physical appearance (Clerkin & Teachman, 2008). Again, a successful treatment outcome would entail nearing alignment between perception and reality, and not a referral for cosmetic surgery (Cretella, 2016). In comparing these conditions to some transgender people's desire to physically transition via hormones and surgeries, a difference in motivation is clear; transgender people seek to become what they

believe they are, while the conditions described above seek to remove themselves from what they fear they are.

Yet another parallel can be drawn between misaligned gender identity and body identity integrity disorder (BIID). BIID entails identification as disabled in some way and the person feels imprisoned in a fully functioning body (First & Fisher, 2012). According transgender doctor, Anne Lawrence, BIID and GD share many parallels (Lawrence, 2006). In people with BIID, belief can result in significant distress causing some to desire surgical amputation, or severing of the spinal cord, to experience psychological concordance with their bodies (First & Fisher, 2012). Conceivably, most surgeons would have ethical qualms providing such procedures as it involves damaging normal ability and healthy tissue (Bayne & Levy, 2005). While some may experience emotional pain-relief from surgical interventions, it does little to address the underlying problem (Cretella, 2016). It is possible the abovementioned conditions suffer psychologically because society is unaccepting of their self-perceived identities and a surgeon's refusal to offer the desired treatment can be taxing. However, it is also possible these conditions generate internal conflict and positions inner identity at odds with bodily facts in a way triggering psychological distress. From the noted similarities, then, it seems feasible to some extent that the intensely felt mismatch between inner sense of gender and bodily reality is capable of generating additional psychiatric issues.

The Role of Psychiatry for Gender Dysphoria

Currently, experts and clinicians find themselves in an interesting situation as the DSM-5 continues to categorise GD as a mental disorder, while ICD-11 has taken a leading role in fully depathologising transgender identities, yet providing medical transitions (Reed et al., 2016). The APA is internationally leading in terms of diagnostic formulations, but the DSM-5 is mostly used in the North American context. The international reach of the WHO is greater and it is reasonable to assume the ICD-11 will impact future removal of GD in the DSM system (Beek et al., 2016). The WHO is the directing health authority within the United Nations and some 70% of the world's psychiatrists primarily use the ICD system (Independent Expert, 2018). The medical and cultural depathologisation of transgender identities appears to have consequences for the role of psychiatry in the assessment and treatment of GD. The mounting perception of misaligned gender identities developmental diversity, both within therapy and culture, the discipline of psychiatry is becoming less concerned with the sources of distress in transgender people (Schulz, 2018). Treatment guidelines have supported psychiatry as the first contact and encourage psychological

assessment (e.g., Coleman et al., 2011). While clinics may prioritise such assessment only when severe mental disorders are suspected (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018), establishing why comorbidities and GD occur is becoming less relevant because biomedical treatment is largely considered the only remedy for distress. As such, facilitating access to treatment and building health care providers' knowledge about treatment is prioritised (Ard & Keuroghlian, 2018). With advocates promoting a relocation of GD out of psychiatry and into medicine and endocrinology, a change already implemented in some contexts, treatment protocols dedicated to obtaining informed consent above robust psychological assessment prior to interventions, are facilitated (Arcelus & Bouman, 2015; Schulz, 2018). Such a perspective appears to prioritise the civil rights of transgender people over other considerations (Levine, 2021).

Considering the above view, as well as the view emerging from the depathologisation process broadly, the relevance of psychiatric insights appears uncertain. We might conceive of comorbidities as arising from stigma, or other adverse effects imposed by the social environment; it is arguably severely distressing to face violence for one's gender expression or to be tormented by peers for displaying gender variance (Tankersley et al., 2021). These experiences are likely to cause or worsen mental health conditions. However, with DSM's latest iteration, part of the rationale for retaining GD was to better account for the distress component arising from a mismatch between physical sex and subjective gender identity (Zucker, 2010). For some, GD distress is intense to the point of needing hormonal and surgical interventions; if GD is to be understood in this sense as constituting mental normalcy, other conditions, like the ones described earlier, could be argued for as well.

The older clinical guidelines reflected the core issue of disconnection between subjective self-understanding and bodily reality as itself a matter of concern (Mayer & McHugh, 2016). According to psychiatrist and researcher Paul McHugh (2016), intensely feeling a mind-body discordance can be a mental disorder in two ways: First, the idea that the mind and body can be at odds, is a mistaken belief, and second, this experience can produce a host of negative outcomes. Regardless of societal stigma or other external factors, it remains a transgender person's primary obstacle is their body, perceiving it to be wrong in a dramatic way. Whereas DSM-5 employ the GD diagnosis to encapsulate severe mental distress and to offer access to transition interventions, ICD-11, clearly allows for the possibility of seeking a transition even when GD is absent (Reed et al., 2016). As a result, ICD-11 conveys the discordance between felt gender and sexed body is part of normal human development.

Against this backdrop, a primarily psychological issue is removed from the realm of psychology. As Lori Cretella (2016, p. 51) of the American College of Paediatricians expresses, the discipline of psychology could transform into a "medical interventionist specialty." If a shared objective standard is eroded from psychiatry and clinically necessary concepts of pathology and non-pathology, abnormal and normal are removed, this might sacrifice proper medical and clinical practice, according to Levine (2021). Despite laudable intentions aiming to reduce stigma, departing from these concepts will not provide clinicians with meaningful categories enabling them to offer health services to those who suffer from pathologies or abnormalities (Cretella, 2016). Given the changes in diagnostic nomenclature did not derive from a scientific basis, but through cultural and political changes, we should perhaps be wary of unintended consequences in other areas of medicine and psychiatry broadly.

Normality may be defined as "that which functions according to its design" (King, 1945, p. 494). The brain, for example, is normal when it fulfils its main function of perceiving the physical reality and when thoughts are in accordance with this reality, argues Cretella (2016). Thoughts discordant with physical reality can therefore be considered abnormal, regardless of whether the individual experiences distress from such thinking (Cretella, 2016). For the psychiatric professional, an important task is to help the individual survive the beliefs they hold, but also to help them accept truth, while disentangling the antecedents of their beliefs (McHugh, 2016). Against this backdrop, it seems reasonable to argue the mental scaffolding supporting a transgender identification should at least be evaluated within psychiatry, rather than remain outside the realm of appropriate questioning in a clinical context.

Clinicians have noted the exponential growth observable in some GD pathways, often unfolding and intensifying by receiving feedback from others, which facilitates reinforced beliefs (Sasha Ayad, 2020a; Hakeem, 2018). While Standards of Care (Coleman et al., 2011) prescribe a mental health professional to conduct initial assessment prior to medical interventions, the guidelines emphasise the clinician's role as an advocate for the transgender client and state the ethical responsibility to affirm and support atypical gender identification. This positions the clinician in a conflict of encouraging transgender identification while conducting psychological assessment of eligibility for transition. SoC offers a way around this by recommending mental health concerns "must be reasonably well-controlled" prior to

interventions (Coleman et al., 2011, p. 40). However, as Janssen et al. (2019) note, deciding on what constitutes reasonable control in this regard is entirely subjective.

How clinicians contribute in enforcing mistaken beliefs is awarded little attention in current discussions. Transgender people deserve to be respected and listened to, but it also seems important for a clinician to consult the psychological mechanisms ongoing in the patient prior to intervention-referral as progressing prematurely could cause future harm (Levine, 2021). A range of ethical issues emerge here and clinicians have noted their ethical discomfort with not knowing whether their patients' struggle is a mental disorder or not (Vrouenraets et al., 2015). Other clinicians have resigned due to conscience issues over rapid affirmation and treatment for young people without proper assessment (Bannermann, 2019). How can the clinician know whether psychiatric comorbidity in patients is completely separate from GD and transgender identity, or a fundamental part of their desire for medical interventions?

It appears unavoidable to note the transgender population's significant challenge in regards to additional mental health problems. According to clinicians at the National Treatment Service for Gender Incongruence, two thirds of adolescents suffer from sever comorbidities, including depression, anxiety, self-harm, and trauma (Wæhre & Tønset, 2018, March 23). A 2018-study revealed 50.8% of female to male adolescents reported a previous suicide attempt (Toomey et al., 2018). Similar rates of suicide attempts are found by Williams Institute (Herman et al., 2019). Research also clearly indicates gender identity issues are more frequent in individuals with early adverse life experiences, trauma, sexual abuse, internalised homophobia, and autism (de Vries et al., 2016; Giovanardi et al., 2018; Glidden et al., 2016). Clinical and psychological mapping of transition-desire thus seems highly important.

With regard to adolescent females who experience GD, research observes they are often adamant in their desire to transition and express the immediacy with which interventions must ensue (Churcher Clarke & Spiliadis, 2019; L. Littman, 2018). According to psychologist Kenneth Zucker (2017), who is considered an expert in the field of GD, many young people present in gender clinics within a context of broader identity issues. GD could also manifest as a secondary symptom of another, more primary condition (Zucker et al., 2012). These findings highlight the need for psychiatry to take part in the treatment of transgender people. Addressing the root cause is critical and professionals should make sure they are alleviating the right issue before advising the patients to undergo medical

interventions, many of which are irreversible with future infertility as a result (Coleman et al., 2011). It seems critical to retain a space for well-intentioned questioning in a clinical setting

Notwithstanding, confirmation of gender identity assertions prima facie and transition-facilitation appear to be natural corollaries to the process of depathologisation. As additional psychiatric issues and GD are conceived of as adverse consequences of societal stigma, psychiatry serves less of a function and causal factors for GD remain unlooked for. Consequently, the focus becomes increasingly turned toward medical transitions; some clinicians believe this to the gold standard of transgender treatment and some clinicians feel they are saving lives by facilitating medical treatment (Levine, 2018). As a result, intensified focus on gender affirmation and transition-interventions can be seen as a driver in rates of transgender identification and transitions. In addition, the lowered diagnostic thresholds in both DSM-5 and ICD-11 can illustrate an added effect via diagnostic inflation, facilitated on the internet.

Diagnostic Inflation and Concept Creep

In the lead-up to DSM-5, concern was voiced about several mental health diagnoses becoming less stringently defined, while new disorders were added (Fabiano & Haslam, 2020). According psychiatrist Allen Frances (2014), chairman and leading figure in the revision of DSM-IV, relaxed diagnostic criteria would pathologise normal, non-pathological experiences. This concern was noted relevant in a range of psychiatric disorders, like depression, anxiety, autism, Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), and eating disorders, particularly so in relation to young people (Fabiano & Haslam, 2020; Wakefield & First, 2012). Such concern is in keeping with a general impression of young people "shopping for disorders" online, while "quick fix" prescriptions are preferred over time-consuming psychotherapy. The role of pharmaceutical companies' monetary benefit is also of concern (Jones, 2014). Frances' (2014) and others' critique, especially relevant to DSM-5's relaxed criteria for GD in adolescence and adulthood, can be seen through the cultural context of psychological "concept creep" (Haslam, 2016).

Originally, Haslam (2016), hypothesised harm-related concepts have undergone a semantic expansion in in the past decades through social change and cultural shifts. This development was termed "concept creep" and is a framework utilised by prominent thinkers to account for political, cultural, and legal broadening of concepts related to harm (e.g., Lukianoff & Haidt, 2018; Pinker, 2018). Haslam (2016) suggested semantic expansion is

particularly relevant to psychological terms and can occur horizontally and vertically. The latter type of expansion ensues when a concept is less rigidly defined and engulfs less severe notions of a phenomenon. For example, bullying has over time come to include unintentional and unrepeated acts that are less severe. Horizontal expansion entails a concept applied in a new context or adds to its inclusion new phenomena. In this expansion, bullying has been applied to qualitatively new contexts, like cyberbullying (Haslam, 2016).

Along two axes, harm-related concepts can undergo semantic inflation. In the context of GD, this appears relevant both in a clinical setting as clinicians operate with relaxed diagnostic criteria possibly allowing for diagnostic inflation, with the added effect of clinician beliefs about the best treatment, as described earlier. From a cultural perspective, concept creep can enforce this inflationary effect. To illustrate this, social media and user-generated online material relating to transgenderism and GD is helpful. The internet contains vastly more content about transgender topics compared to earlier. Transgender people and gender-questioning teens congregate in online communities, wherein they can share advice, establish friendships, and have social support (Selkie et al., 2020; Trujillo et al., 2017). Yet, many clinicians are concerned with the facilitating effect of the internet on GD interpretations, retroactive meaning-making of past experiences, and social contagion mechanisms producing increased rates of transgender identification with subsequent transition desire (Lisa Littman, 2018; Meyer-Bahlburg et al., 2018; Van Deusen, 2018).

Diluting Diagnostic Criteria Online

The literature on young people's conclusions and realisations about having GD suggests the internet and social media are instrumental to their development (e.g., L. Littman, 2018). Arguably, better access to information and increased visibility of transgender issues has allowed people to understand themselves better and seek the help they need (Bechard et al., 2016). The internet has likely helped those who in the past were un-treated and un-diagnosed. In this way, the internet can be seen as contributory in rising rates of clinic-referrals (Zucker, 2019). At the same time, however, the internet may be understood as a double-edged sword in its contribution to GD among young people (L. Littman, 2018).

With regard to transgender individuals with dissimilar trajectories to those with childhood GD, concern about the role of internet in developing GD has been expressed (Brunskell-Evans, 2019; Van Deusen, 2018). Online transgender communities are typically highly supportive and welcoming. In the context of complex mental health conditions or more

unspecific forms of psychological pain, the internet can play a key role in transgender identity conclusions. When seeking the internet to find what might explain their psychological discomfort, young people can locate forums and websites containing a diluted set of GD diagnostic criteria. On Tumblr, Reddit, or YouTube, youngsters questioning their gender gather to share their experiences and perceptions of being transgender, often describing symptoms of GD as feeling "different from others," "not fitting in," or "being uncomfortable in one's body" (see L. Littman, 2018)

These descriptions are likely easily recognised by young people as they describe relatively common human discomforts. In the troublesome and complex time of adolescence, body discomfort, for example, may resonate deeply (Ayad, 2020a). Diagnostically, GD does entail distressing body discomfort and strong rejection of secondary sex characteristics (APA, 2013). But for the insecure teenager, body-image issues could be mere adolescent discomfort with a developing body. As Levine (2021) argues, there might be an increased difficulty among young people in dealing with naturally occurring life events. Could we view contemporary manifestations of GD as a new way of describing bodily discomfort?

Several clinicians and other voices have observed a relative incapacity to bear and navigate the turbulent waters of adolescence (Churcher Clarke & Spiliadis, 2019). Research does indicate that young girls tend to struggle more with negative body-image compared to male counterparts, especially in association with social media (Aaserud, 2021). Body discomfort and body alienation may stem from other experiences as well, like sexual abuse, mental disorders, personal loss or broken families, according to reports from detransitioned adults (Heyer, 2018). The desire to escape one's body may have its genesis in a multitude of life stressors and online forums can give the impression of such experiences are indicative of GD. Against this backdrop, adopting a transgender identity could, according to a life-course perspective, be seen as new cultural solutions to familiar intrapsychic distress during psychosexual development (Levine, 2018).

This rationale seems to coincide with a general societal tendency to over-diagnose and view normal traits as psychiatric ones. One Reddit forum dedicated to the topic of gender dysphoria (r/genderdysphoria) shares an article detailing "indirect" GD symptoms. Among these, a sense of "meaninglessness in life" and "lack of purpose", suggest a GD condition (Jones, 2013). It seems questioning one's gender in this context is likely to confirm any suspicions; the answer is almost always "yes" (Ayad, 2020a; Littman, 2018b). Anecdotal accounts from

detransitioners emphasise the internet as contributory to interpretations of GD (Shrier, 2020). If young people are solving ordinary developmental angst thought extraordinary means (Levine, 2021), it would seem wise to explore the internet's contribution.

Therapist Sasha Ayad (2020a), who works with gender-questioning youth and their families, observes a tendency in young people to mould their pain to fit with the narratives encountered online. As the young person continues to read, watch, and focus on a transgender interpretation of their distress, the more it will come to make sense and fit with their understanding of the diagnosis, Ayad observes; they become confident that this explains what is going on. Parent reports have revealed that prior to announcing transgender identification, the young people described had spent a prolonged time immersed on the internet, bingewatching transition and trans-related videos (Littman, 2018). In support, clinical experience notes youth arriving in clinics after watching a transgender influencer on YouTube (e.g., Bertie, 2016). Littman's (2018) findings offer additional support as parents frequently reported a rapid progression in their child from unspecific psychological distress to clear and adamant transgender identification.

With this context, a young person stumbling onto information about gender identity and gender incongruence may start a process of considering that they do feel incongruence between who they are and how people see them. According to psychiatrist Hakeen (2018), intense preoccupation with what is perceived to be the core problem and solution can manifest in transgender individuals, resulting in an exponential development with steps serving to reinforce perceptions. For females with GD, high rates of cooccurring autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is reported (de Vries et al., 2010) and a possible link between the GD and autism could be the diagnoses' shared trait of intense and rigid focus on specific activities, for example, cross-sex objects (VanderLaan et al., 2015). Arguably, the online realm can facilitate and maintain perceptions of having a transgender identity and needing treatment.

Young people can both conclude with a transgender identity through appraising their distress as GD online and find non-medical steps to start transitioning. For example, trying a new clothing style, adopting new pronouns, or using a chest binder to masculinise appearance for females ("Your guide", 2017). Initiating this process can relieve perceived GD distress; continued living with psychological discomfort and not fitting in with peers can perhaps seem more straining than commencing with a social transition. Many youths are excited about this revelation and feel a sense of relief from finding "the" solution (Ayad, 2020a). According to

detransitioner reports, peers, social media, and online communities were influential in their transgender identity development and transition-desire (Pique Resilience Project, 2019)

It is furthermore worth noting how online subcultures guide and advice young people, both on how to socially transition, but also on what to say to the mental health professional to gain access to treatment. Littman (2018) found that 22.2% of the transgender young people were exposed to online advice about accessing hormones, and 17.5% were exposed to advice promoting lying to a professional as acceptable. This type of online advice can be seen as similar to "anorexic tricks" in eating disorder communities (Harshbarger et al., 2009). Deceptive behaviours, like hiding the truth about not eating and weight-loss from parents and doctors, are shared between patients and in online forums (Custers, 2015). Communities may also validate eating disorders as an identity, further intensifying deceptive behaviour (Rouleau & von Ranson, 2011). These similarities, in addition to a shared pattern of social contagion within peer groups via co-rumination and excessive reassurance seeking, suggest anorexic developmental pathways could serve as a template for the rising rates of gender clinic referrals in relation to peer- and online influence (L. Littman, 2018; Paxton et al., 1999).

2. Gender Identity Theory & Culture

In tandem with an overarching process of declaring transgender identities to be representatives of human diversity, contemporary conceptualisations of gender have changed significantly in the past decades. Whereas traditional notions of gender grounded in the biological division between male and female has long prevailed, young people are now exploring and questioning gender in a vastly different context. Increasingly, gender is understood as culturally and socially produced and therefore, gender expressions vary across time. Moreover, seemingly ill-fitting and rigid gender categories are replaced with a spectrum-based perspective, wherein gender is characterised by multiplicity and fluidity (Wren, 2014). This chapter will attempt to describe main tenets of a contemporary theory of gender identity, before offering antecedent historical and cultural shifts which have paved the way for current beliefs about gender. A discussion highlighting gender identity theory's driving role in transgender identification and treatment-seeking will follow.

Gender Identity Theory

The concept of gender identity has become common currency in Western culture, as well as within a clinical setting (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). The collection of ideas that make up gender identity theory are many and a widely agreed upon definition is wanting. Still, central ideas can be extracted, the most prevalent of which seems to be that gender identity is a fundamental part of a person's identity and determines who they truly are. According to Yogyakarta Principles (YP; 2006, prin. 3), a publication on human rights in areas of gender identity and sexual orientation, gender identity is "integral to their personality and is one of the most basic aspects of self-determination, dignity and freedom." In a similar vein, transgender bioethicist Simona Giordano argues gender identity is a fundamental element of oneself, "a segment of personal identity" (Giordano, 2012, p. 48).

Others explain gender identity is a core component of who a person truly is (Hoffman-Fox, 2017). The authenticity of gender identity is also emphasised, for instance, influential trans woman and former executive director at the National Centre for Transgender Equality, Mara Keisling, explains transgender people are among the few who are "really approaching things with full integrity and full transparency...We're saying, this is who I really am" (Lopez, 2018). In a children's book entitled *It Feels So Good to be Yourself*, gender identity is innate, fundamental, and an expression of authentic identity (Thorn, 2019).

The LGBT organisation Stonewall offers the following definition of gender identity: "A person's innate sense of their own gender, whether female, male or something else... which may or may not correspond to the sex assigned at birth" (List of LGBTQ+ terms, n. d.). The definition of the word "innate" describes something inborn, existing prior to birth; belonging to the original or essential construction of body and mind (Merriam-Webster, n. d.). Accordingly, when gender identity is discovered, its existence precedes the person's conscious awareness of it. After discovery, a person may outwardly express their gender identity through clothing, hair style, hormones or surgery. In other words, gender identity can manifest through gender expression, which for transgender people often entails biomedical treatment. These external steps are considered evidence of the person's innate gender identity and conveys to the world their authentic identity (Stock, 2022).

Moreover, information about gender identity is often described as something only the holder can know through privileged access to this information (Wren, 2014). Gender is commonly described as being "between your ears" and not "between your legs" (e.g., Olsen, 2014). Thus, gender resides in the mind with the ability to over-ride the biological body as informant for true gender. Evidently, a turn toward gender as separate from biology and depending upon personal and subjective interpretations has occurred. As a result, identification with a gender category is elided with being born belonging to the biological categories of male and female (Stock, 2022). This is not uncontroversial, as is clear from the hotly debated question of whether a transgender woman is the same as a biological woman (Anderson, 2018). For some, distinguishing between two types of women with reference to biology is considered hate-speech and unaccepting of true identity (e.g., Dawson, 2020).

Gender identity theory goes beyond binary categories of male and female, man and woman. When a transgender person identifies with the opposite sex, they maintain a binary identification. Others, for example, non-binary individuals represent a category of gender identities that are neither male nor female (Aaserud, 2021). Some identify as bigender and experience a gender identity made up of both man and woman. Yet others consider themselves genderless, or agender. Omnigender entails possessing all genders (see List of LGBTQ+ terms, n. d.). A set number of gender identities cannot be given and when glossaries are provided, authors often note the inevitable expiry of their descriptions because gender identities are ever-expanding (e.g., Aaserud, 2021). All gender identities are assumed equally valid and should be expressed as the holder wishes, even when this entails medical interventions (Stock, 2022).

A somewhat different contemporary framework for understanding gender identity is through a political lens, wherein the act of departing from normative notions of alignment between body and mind serves the goal of blurring the lines between genders, while destabilising sexuality- and gender-normativity in society (Pluckrose & Lindsay, 2020). As gender is thought to be a social construction with meaning ascribed through cultural context at a certain time, the plethora of new gender identities function as an affront to the binary division of men and women based on sex-categorisation. Political objection to fixed gender categories, with societal organisation centred around them, is seen as subverting dominant narratives which undermine and oppress gender variance (Stock, 2022).

Originally, gender identity was theorised in relation to those who exhibited atypical sexual and gender development, today known as disorders of sexual development and gender dysphoria, respectively (e.g., Money et al., 1957). Gender identity theory today, however, stipulates every person has an innate sense of gender, whether aware of this or not (Anderson, 2018). When referencing "men" and "women," the prefix "cis" is often added to distinguish between transgender people and non-transgender people. That is, to distinguish between "types" of men and women depending on psychological experience of gender (Serano, 2007). From the above, gender identity theory departs dramatically form traditional notions of gender as binary and based on biological sex. Historical shifts can shed light on how contemporary understandings of gender have developed.

Historical Roots of Gender Identity Theory

In 1949, French existentialist Simone de Beauvoir published her influential book *The Second Sex*. In this work, de Beauvoir problematised the differential treatment of men and women in society, while contending a woman is made through exposure to cultural representations of femininity. The cultural role projected onto women and girls was by de Beauvoir seen as determined by the interest of men, and in relation to the man, the woman is peripheral; positioned as "the other." The stereotypes of femininity she objected to were considered limiting and contradictory; women should be domestic and modest, but also sexually available and exciting. Through the famous quote, "one is not born, but rather becomes a woman" (de Beauvoir, 1949, p. 283), de Beauvoir highlights the distinction between being born a female and existing as a woman in society.

According to Stock (2022), this is an early instance of separation between sex and gender. Since the 1960's, a second wave of feminists became increasingly interested in the norms,

expectations, and stereotypes associated with masculinity and femininity. These bundles of norms were referred to as "gender" and thought of as societal constructions, rather than linked to biology. As feminist scholar Ann Oakley (1972, p. 21) argued, "sex" is a biological difference between male and female based on reproductive functions, while "gender" is the social categorisation of masculine and feminine. This perspective further developed and womanhood itself came to be understood within feminism as essentially social; being a woman or girl meant having this social role projected onto you (Stock, 2022).

One of the main critiques from a feminist point of view was the objection to biological arguments for the role of women in society. According to feminist theorist Elizabeth Grosz (1995), essentialism in this regard assumes all women share an essence or true nature that is ahistorical and culturally independent. The view frames the social manifestation of femininity to be a product of female biology, producing certain traits in all women, like psychological traits related to nurturance, non-competitiveness, and empathy. Fixed essentialist biological notions limited the scope of women's possibilities and accepting a "natural" division between the sexes would neutralise the social mechanisms manifesting the oppression of women (Wittig, 1981, p. 104). Philosopher and feminist Judith Butler (1986, p. 35) observed the separation of sex and gender as pivotal in the effort to "debunk the claim that anatomy is destiny."

The feminist movement conceivably altered the conceptualisation of constitutes a woman. This, argues Stock (2022), would later lead to altered perceptions of *who* society could consider a woman. The earlier work of the feminist movement likely did not have transgender accommodation in mind, but they did seek to unchain women from the oppressive limitations of understood only as biological beings (Stock, 2022). Conceivably, current notions of gender identity as privileged over biology springs in part from the social change brought about by the feminist movement.

Postmodernism and Queer Theory

In dealing with the topic of gender identity claims in contemporary society, featuring the overarching epistemologies associated with postmodernism seems inevitable. While a comprehensive exposition is beyond the scope of this thesis, notable postmodern views are pertinent to the formation of gender identity theory today. Broadly, the collection of ideas and arguments in postmodernist thinking can be seen as radical scepticism and rejection of anything in society considered stable, fixed, and orderly. Instead, things are fluid, disorderly,

and uncertain (Pilcher & Whelehan, 2016). In relation to sex and gender, postmodern theorising has problematised the very concept of gender, denied the traditional binary division between two genders, and politically wrestled with the limitations placed on gender opportunity and expression.

According to Kvale (1995), postmodernism is essentially a critique of the modernist assumption that through science, humans can access objective truth. Consequently, postmodernism questions the assumption humans contend with universal reality. Rejecting universal truth has oriented focus away from attempts to represent reality scientifically, towards the linguistic construction of reality informed by individual subjectivity. Furthermore, "truth" is situated within a culture where people with a shared identity marker and societal position culturally construct reality (Kvale, 1995). Cultural relativism in relation to knowledge-production and language means no one constructed reality can be checked by another and all "truths" are equally valid (Pluckrose & Lindsay, 2020).

Linguistic construction and types of knowledge feature as central elements of postmodernism. From this, the inner sense of gender identity is highlighted and viewed as subjective truth. In Western societies, the cultural construction of gender has separated men and women based on biology and unjustly asserted a non-transgender identity as privileged over other gender identities. Rorty (1995) argues binary gender identities are co-defining, but not in reality opposites. The organisation of men and women as separate and fixed categories are defined by what is external to it, therefore, stable categories are by default exclusionary (Wren, 2014). From a political point of view, dichotomous thinking, "maintains inequalities of power" (Squires, 1991, p. 127).

Binary distinctions between entities are considered highly influential in the development and progress of Western societies and modernism (Pilcher & Whelehan, 2016). Outlined by Prokhovnik (2002) and applied to the male-female binary, four processes unfold in dichotomous thinking. First, differences between male and female are constructed as oppositions; each part is defined by not being the other. Second, a hierarchical ordering takes place wherein one part of the pair becomes subordinate to the other. Importantly, the dominant part in a binary had gained this position through its exclusion of the other. In feminism, the subordination of women by men is central, but a postmodern turn has criticised feminisms complicit role in subordinating other groups through maintaining the binary (Lorber, 2006). Third, the dichotomous pair determines the whole; together, male and female

set the parameter for what gender is. Fourth, the subordinate part can only move up or gain in value by becoming more like the dominant part (Prokhovnik, 2002). For feminists, women needed to gain access to material and social goods dominated by men, but this effort is also criticised for neglecting its own utilisation of a discursive framework originally constructed with power-imbalance and hierarchical oppression (Pilcher & Whelehan, 2016). Postmodernism encourages re-examination or deconstruction of assumptions; certain assumptions produce and reproduce fixed categories and attaches meaning to them (Derrida, 1973; Wren, 2014). As a result, gender opportunities are suppressed through a discourse which dominates the available ways to describe and express gender. Dichotomous language "operates to preclude the recognition of plurality and heterogeneity" (Pilcher & Whelehan, 2016, p. 31).

Herein, we may view traditional presentations of men and woman as exclusionary toward those who do not neatly fit in with such presentations. In contemporary culture, those who divert from normal sexual development (intersex) and those who have gender identities at odds with biological sex, are considered oppressed by unequal power dynamics (Pluckrose & Lindsay, 2020). The very idea that there is a norm from which to divert, is criticised (Independent Expert, 2018). Moreover, postmodernism's emphasis on language as constructive refutes the division between men and women based on biological sex because bodies are not ahistorical and pre-discursive; sexed bodies are given meaning only when they are spoken about in a cultural context (Pilcher & Whelehan, 2016). Furthermore, the postmodern rejection of scientific knowledge distrusts the causal relationship between birth-sex and gender identity (Wren, 2014). Therefore, these meanings must be examined extensively, a process which has arguably made subjective gender identity a salient feature in current debate.

Within postmodernism, and in relation to gender, a political turn is taken through queer theory. According to queer theorist Judith Butler (1988), gender can only be expressed as performance, because the idea of gender is socially constructed. The preferred way to "perform" gender is to subvert or "queer" dominant discourses and break down power structures that serve to uphold limiting gender categories. Queer theorists seek to dismantle existing structures perceived to create, maintain, and perpetuate hierarchies and minority-group oppression. In reference to sex and gender categories, the boundaries grouping people together are considered arbitrarily created by unjust systems of power (Pluckrose & Lindsay, 2020, p. 99).

As with postmodernism generally, queer theory remains difficult to understand, perhaps by design; as Annamarie Jagose (1996, p. 3) explains, "its elasticity, is a conscious characteristic." Thus, the central feature of queer theory is its whole purpose: resisting categorisation and distrusting the language used to define those categories (Stock, 2022). Queering is about unmaking any sense of the normal, as a way to liberate people from the expectations of norms (Pluckrose & Lindsay, 2021). The be queer is to be whatever is at odds with the normal, the legitimate, the dominant (Halperin, 1997). The stability and permanence of gender categories are questioned, and gender is presented as fluid across time and culture, but also within the individual. Through this lens, atypical gender identities or queer individuals are applauded and valued for their transgressive function within cultures of cisand heteronormativity (Wren, 2014).

Gender Identity in a Human Rights Paradigm

While queer theory rejects the validity of stable categories, gender identity has come to be included in a human rights paradigm. The aforementioned Yogyakarta Principles (YP; 2007) is a civil society document authored by a group of experts within law, health, and human rights (Brunskell-Evans, 2019). The YP's 38 principles are not legally binding and have not been implemented into any UN convention or declaration on human rights, although they are regularly cited by the UN (Ettelbrick & Zeran, 2010). The YP constitute the most comprehensive exposition of gender identity within a human rights paradigm and is frequently cited in international legislation, academic papers, bills, resolutions, and other documents (Minkowitz, 2016). Thus, the principles are seen as authoritative to international law (Brunskell-Evans, 2019).

According to principle 3 of the YP (2007, 8), gender identity is defined as "...each person's deeply felt internal and individual experience of gender," independent of bodily sex. Within the YP, transgender rights are seen as politically progressive and intersectional with the rights afforded to other marginalised or oppressed groups (Brunskell-Evans, 2019). The YP (2007, p. 6) stipulate that "all human rights are universal, interdependent, indivisible and interrelated," and "gender identity is integral to every person's dignity and humanity." Thus, gender identity should legally be protected against discrimination on that ground.

Another instance of the human rights aspect of gender identity is the UN Human Rights Commissioner's (HRC) establishment of the Independent Expert in 2016, which is a branch dedicated to issues relating to sexual orientation and gender identity (Independent Expert,

2018). In addition, the UN's Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) now includes natal males who identify as women alongside women in protection from discrimination based on sex and gender (Minkowitz, 2016). Gender identity is understood as a part of legal personhood and self-defined gender identity is presumed to warrant legal protection (Jeffreys, 2014). Here, gender identity theory's assertions about the separation between bodily sex and subjective gender come to fruition as persons can gain legal protection from gender- and sex-based discrimination through identification with the other sex.

Separating the Mind from the Body

Evidently, major shifts in cultural conceptions of gender have occurred and these stand in stark contrast to long-held notions of gender as linked to biology. Of note is the central assertion that sex and gender are dislocated concepts, with biology resolute in informing one's gender. Additionally, gender is understood as a social construction. These altered perceptions are likely to influence young people's gender-related issues in important ways by making both gender identity and the sexed body salient, but separately and independently so. These main claims about gender identity will feature in the following discussion focused on how scientific and postmodern insight can account the innateness of gender identity and account for the physical reality of inhabited bodies.

Despite accounting for gender identity theory assertions, it remains unclear what gender identity actually is. Commonly, when atypical gender identities are asserted, it should be taken at face value because the transgender person has privileged access to this information. As such, it cannot be questioned or refuted by others, not even in a clinical context (Wren, 2014). The transgender person is the sole authority on these matters and by extension, the sole authority on the body they inhabit and treatment-needs (YP, 2006; Wren, 2014). When there is a desire to alter the body by means of hormones or surgery, self-certainty of gender identity is its own guarantee. Consequently, self-deception in this regard is not possible and no one else can prove the identity to be otherwise (Wren, 2014). But what exactly does it mean to have an inner sense of gender? Moreover, what does this mean in relation to a physical body? Philosophically, we may ask how a female, for instance, can really know what it is like to be a male, as only a male would inhabit that capacity (Nagel, owl).

In an attempt to extract the core meaning of gender identity, a sequence of questions inspired by Robert George (in Anderson, 2018, p. 105) is helpful. Consider, for example, the claim

made by a biological female that they "really are a man" because of a male gender identity. What does this statement mean? Clearly, the person is not claiming their biological sex is male as this would be contrary to scientific truth. Nor is the person saying that their gender is "man" or "masculine." Even if "gender" in this context is considered wholly a socially constructed role or as mere self-perception, the person is currently not perceived to be a man as no medical interventions have occurred. Moreover, the fact that they are not already perceived to be a man constitutes the reason for undergoing a medical transition.

Consequently, treatment is motivated by the wish to be perceived as a man, while the justification for undergoing treatment is that they already are a man. This assertion places gender identity as extant prior to what a transition will achieve, but what does it specifically refer to? Gender identity is often defined as an "inner sense" of gender, but such a definition does not answer what this "inner sense" is sensing. What is "sensed" within the person leading to conclusions about gender identity?

The Postmodern Turn

Answering the above questions is not easy as knowledge about gender identity development is scarce. Yet, clinical experience and the core issue in GD seem to indicate that the body is central to what is being sensed. That is, a person with GD experiences a direct conflict with the body they inhabit and feel a sense of estrangement from bodily reality (Silber, 2019). GIDS psychologist Bernadette Wren (2014, p. 278) describes the difficulty of "privileged access" to gender identity information presenting in combination with a direct bodily experience, as this is a type of sensing of the body through non-identification and non-belonging. Within a postmodern framework, clinicians face a complex situation as the subjectivity of the patient is privileged over exploration of how they sense the body. Body discomfort is at the core of transgender people's experience, according to Prosser (1998), and the reality of the inhabited body is a "reality" that a postmodern framework fails to do justice (Wren, 2014, 278).

Postmodernism's rejection of universal and objective truth is in conflict with the assertion of "privileged access" in gender identity theory. When declared in a clinical setting, how one feels on the inside cannot automatically be taken as evidence for the wrongness of the body (Wren, 2014). If it is taken as evidence, what does a GD person's convincing history of non-identification with their body tell us? As Prosser (2009) argues, a feeling of body integrity is necessary for functioning successfully and body-related perceptions of the self and its continuity informs self-certainty and self-belief. From a postmodern perspective, descriptions

of the bodily self independently of culture cannot be done because the body is not prediscursive, nor ahistorical (e.g., Stryker, 2008). The requirement of a cultural analysis applied to atypical gender identity development can divert attention away from the body-mind discordance directly deriving from experience of embodiment.

On the other hand, in line with postmodern notions of language as construction and prevailing dominant discourses limiting the ways in which descriptions of oneself can be articulated, GD can be viewed differently. For instance, GD could be seen as an attempt to explain one's inner life via available cultural elements; a version of subjectivity arises and seeks to communicate a story of identity by drawing on one or more of the legitimising discourses in the current culture (Foucault, 1970, 1996). From this, declarations of an atypical gender identity do not represent objective reality, but rather a linguistic attempt to achieve recognition and convince relevant agents in the social environments of internal feelings relating to the body (Wren, 2014). As Rorty (1991) describes, our language are tools, rather than a reflection.

Given the historical prejudice and difficulty transgender people have faced with regard to being believed in their strong convictions of internal gender in contrast with their bodies, it is possible to understand adamant claims of privileged access to the truth of their gender as a retelling of a story grounded in the wish to have these experiences legitimised and acknowledged. The integrity of gender identity claims could be aimed at convincing others through stories of childhood gender dysphoria moulded to fit with the requirements in a clinical context allowing for access to surgeries. Several authors have noted clients' tendency to conform their stories to achieve the goal of transitioning (Wren, 2014; Littman, 2018; Prosser, 1999). When clinicians are faced with young gender dysphoric patients who present a self-narrative impacted by retrospective adjustments based on the present desire for bodily alterations, Roen (2011a, p. 64) reminds us how "both gender and adolescence are characterised by fluidity, changeability and uncertainty". Well-intentioned questions about gender identity thus seem necessary and valuable.

A Return to Biology

Attempts to legitimise the transgender experience, and eventually gender identity theory, has taken a road counter to postmodernism. Conceivably, the "feminine essence" narrative, originally used by older male transsexuals to ameliorate stigma and increase public acceptance (Jeffreys, 2014), could be seen as an early iteration of gender identity theory. Through claims of having always been female, despite a male body, the "feminine essence"

narrative grounded inner sense of gender in biological terms; they were women, but trapped in male bodies (Soh, 2021, p. 130; Jeffreys, 2014). With similar claims of innateness, "feminine essence" and gender identity theory attempt to cement a tangible reality in individual subjectivity, that by virtue legitimises medical treatment to alter the body.

Within transgender treatment and research, a scientific effort is made to locate gender identity neurobiologically (e.g., Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). This endeavour is not only motivated by finding neural correlations between brain structure aspects, but to justify attributing gender identity directly to brain differences, rather than biological sex (Stock, 2022). Some brain-studies have demonstrated weak correlations between cross-gender identification and brain-structure (Mayer & McHugh, 2016; see Ristori et al., 2020). The correlations found do not, however, appear to constitute evidence for a neurobiological basis of gender identity. Non-representative, non-random, and small samples characterise such research, while they fail to show whether brain differences occur between populations or just between individuals (Mayer & McHugh, 2016).

Parts of the feminist movement have expressed worry as brain studies presenting "female brains" or "male brains" seem to backtrack well-known feminist critique of biological essentialism (Stock, 2022). Others criticise the over-zealous conclusions about what such brain studies show through disregarding neuroplasticity, which is the brain's potential for altered microstructure as a consequence of long-time behaviours (Cretella, 2016). There is significant evidence to suggest that experience can change the brain, but there is no evidence that we are born with brain microstructures that are unchangeable (Gu & Kanai, 2014). Some therefore argue that if specific transgender brain differences are discovered, it will most likely result from engaging in transgender behaviour, rather than be the cause of an atypical gender identity (e.g., Cretella, 2016).

Despite gender identity's implausible existence in brain structure, research suggesting hormone exposure in early development as consequential for later behaviour and preferences are taken as evidence (e.g., Bao & Swaab, 2011). According to Dr Polly Carmichael, director at GIDS, hormone exposure in the womb could "have a permanent influence on gender identity and behaviour" (Delvin, 2013). The data Carmichael comments on comes from rare cases of congenital adrenal hyperplasia (CAH) in female children. This condition exposes females to unusually high levels testosterone during prenatal development (Sax, 2002). As children, females with CAH tend to exhibit behaviours and preferences commonly thought of

as more masculine. For example, they tend to prefer toys like weapons or vehicles (Hassett et al., 2008), and to exhibit greater interest in rough-and-tumble play. They also tend to be more aggressive in play and more physically active (Pasterski et al., 2011). However, should such proclivities and the excessive testosterone exposure be understood as producing a male gender identity in natal females?

It is likely females with CAH find themselves more similar to boys. For instance, if boys are their preferred playmates, while offering greater opportunity for an activity-level match, it is not unlikely that they may come to share interests with them. They might perceive of themselves as "tomboys" or identify more with boys (Delvin, 2013). Moreover, testosterone exposure in the womb is linked to later homosexual orientation (see Roselli, 2018), which may accelerate similarity with boys (Stock, 2022). Still, this does not indicate hormone exposure produces an innate gender identity, existing prior to being born.

Thus far, research has not been able to nominate a brain fact wherein gender identity resides (Mayer & McHugh, 2016). Even if a neurobiological basis for misaligned gender identities were to be revealed, this would have no bearing on biological sex. In other words, biology could "prove" a misaligned gender identity exists in the brain somewhere, but this would still not mean a transgender person are the sex they psychologically feel like (Soh, 2020). From the available literature, GD and discordant gender identity strongly suggests a psychological condition, which is today treated via biomedical and surgical means, justified through subjective accounts (Levine, 2021). At the same time, unproven assertions about gender identity flourishes in the culture and is accepted by many clinicians (Anderson, 2018), in addition to being taught in schools and kindergartens (Masvie, 2021).

Prevailing efforts to legitimise transgender identities, whether inspired by postmodernism or science, fail to account reality of the body. Clinicians and other agents of influence in the life of a young gender questioning person should be cautious about the multitude of ways in which the body can come to feel wrong. In a culture where gender is made salient, clinicians should consider how their clients arrive at conclusions relating to gender identity, especially during adolescence. Females tend to wrestle more often with poor self-esteem and distorted body-image in pubertal development (Aaserud, 2021), as noted in the preceding chapter. In addition, common comorbidities in GD patients, like depression, anxiety, or trauma, are recognised as possibly generating body-estrangement (Schlax et al., 2020). Some caution is at least warranted in light of gender identity theory's lack of evidential basis; what are the

possible consequences of giving young people the impression that gender is psychological and innate, when this is closely linked to physical alterations?

Highlighting Gender Stereotypes

Taken together, gender identity from a postmodern and from a scientific lens do adequately contend with the physical reality of sexed bodies or how the body factors in to the inner sensing of gender identity. Nonetheless, cultural perceptions of gender as psychological and subjective have become common currency in Western societies (Stock, 2022). When gender identity is presented as psychological and as separate from bodily reality, what does the inner sense of gender identity sense?

In a range of human rights documents, a clear call for eliminating gender stereotypes is expressed. For example, the YP articulate the necessity of States to "eliminate prejudices and customs based on...stereotyped roles for men and women" (2007, p. 9). According to UN's Independent Expert (2018, p. 8), autonomy and freedom is in direct contradiction to "the idea that a person is born to play a certain role in society." The CEDAW shares a similar theme in that sex-based discrimination facing women is remedied by altering prevailing gender norms grounded in sex-role stereotypes (see Minkowitz, 2016). Against the backdrop of this motivation, it is interesting that the YP (2007, p. 8) state that the internal sense of gender may or may not correspond to natal sex, either in relation to "personal sense of the body" or in relation to other gender-expressions, "including dress, speech and mannerisms."

The YP does offer a definition of gender identity, but does not define gender, nor sex. As Mikowitz (2016) points out, linking gender to correspondence or non-correspondence with sex is the only indication that the authors are not merely speaking of personality traits. Somewhat paradoxically, then, the YP (2007) seem to allude to stereotypical notions of femininity and masculinity expressed through "dress, speech and mannerisms." In contrast to their own goals of eliminating stereotypes by socially deconstructing them, they implicitly support a notion of gender as equivalent to stereotypes (Minkowitz, 2016).

Today, public discourse about gender can be seen characterised by some contradictory assertions. One goal seems to assert that gender stereotypes must be eliminated in order to accommodate those who do not experience alignment between gender identity and sex, or otherwise depart form gender norms. Yet, many transgender people fulfil these stereotypes through their gender external expression. In addition, the treatments associated with GD are masculinising and feminising of outer appearance (Coleman et al., 2011). It is possible that

types of gender nonconformity are conflated in the advocacy for transgender rights and acceptance (Masvie, 2021). One type of gender nonconformity is found in those with a GD condition which for many is distressing to the point of seeking medical interventions to alter their appearance to fit with internal convictions. Another type of gender nonconformity, however, does not entail GD and manifests itself with great variation in both sexes.

Men and women exhibit typically masculine and feminine to varying degrees, but this is not the same as having a strong inner conviction of being transgender. Conflating types of gender nonconformity in the effort to advocate for and accommodate transgender individuals appear to highlight gender-stereotypes as indicative of gender identity. In addition, a tendency to conflate gender identity and gender expression is observable (Stock, 2022). Within this context, young females who see themselves as dissimilar to same-sex peers in terms of interests, preferences, or appearance, may be particularly vulnerable to the application of gender identity theory when stereotypes are highlighted. Research suggests young girls face higher demands form society based on their sex. A governmental report issued by the Norwegian government shows that young girls endure more pressure from expectations in relation to behaviour and physical appearance (NOU, 2019). For young females who display more masculine traits visible to others, could dissimilarity with same-sex peers produce gender identity-related questions?

In relation to sexual orientation, the decreased presence of "butch" lesbians is noted (Stock, 2022; Soh, 2021). According to Soh (2021), the non-binary gender identity is particularly popular among same-sex attracted females and the developmental histories of "butch" lesbians shares similarities with female transgender-identified individuals' histories (Lee, 2001). A substantial portion of females with GD have homosexual orientations and when they transition, they identify as heterosexual men (Blanchard et al., 1987; Nieder et al., 2011). Norwegian clinician Johnny Aaserud (2021) some adult lesbian women have histories of gender dysphoric feelings, but eventually settled in their bodies.

3. Gender Affirmation & Treatment

As described in the foregoing chapters, significant diagnostic, conceptual, and legal changes have occurred in relation to transgender people, which seems to intensify focus on the body as object for change, while highlighting stereotypes of gender in the absence of an adequate description of how gender identity is perceived by the young individual. Despite this, the general clinical and cultural acceptance of gender identity theory has generated a framework for the treatment of atypical gender identity development which affirms inner sense of gender and views transitioning as a form of gender expression. Today, the gender affirmative model of transgender care (GAM; Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018; Hidalgo et al., 2013) has gained significant traction. In this chapter, an outline of the clinical views in GAM will be provided, as well as a description of two main controversies pivotal in paving the way for gender affirmation and transitions. A discussion concerned with GAM's role in rising numbers of transgender identification and transitions will conclude the chapter.

The Gender Affirmative Model

The GAM departs from the view that transgender identities are non-pathologicical and each person should be supported by the clinician in the process of living in the desired and most comfortable gender role (Hidalgo et al., 2013). "Gender health" is an important concept and entails a person's opportunity to live in the most comfortable and authentic way, with the ability to express gender free from limitations (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018, p. 12). The role of the mental health professional under the purview of GAM is to be a facilitator of gender health and aiding the young person's discovery of an authentic life relating to gender (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). GAM stresses the importance of social support as critical for gender incongruent or gender-variant children and youth (Olson et al., 2016).

GAM is motivated by the older transgender generations' frequently expressed regret for not gaining access to medical transitions earlier in life (Beemyn & Rankin, 2011; Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). Additionally, GAM is informed by research indicating low regret rates after transitioning; according to Pfäfflin and Junge (1998), less than 2% of transitioned individuals express regret. Against this backdrop, GAM seeks to affirm and confirm children and youths' inner gender identity, which is believed present in the individual from early on in childhood, for some as early as 18 months old (Golombok & Fivuch, 1994).

According to Keo-Meier and Ehrensaft (2018, p. 6), gender identity is a person's "innermost concept of self as boy or girl or both or neither." GAM understands the concept of gender

identity as biological, psychological, social, and cultural, but maintain gender is decided by a child's cognitions and emotions, not biological sex (Hidalgo et al., 2013). While gender identity is not visible, it is a product of individual perception, self-knowledge, and the words used to reference oneself. "Transgender" is defined as anyone who holds a gender identity other than what has been conveyed to them based on their birth-sex. Thus, GAM accommodates a host of gender identities, both binary and non-binary ones. Irrespective of GD, GAM promotes the affirmation of asserted gender identities, which in part includes altering relational terms (e.g., sister to brother), pronouns (e.g., she to her, or they), and names (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018, p. 6).

In line with the depathologisation process, GAM asserts no gender identity or gender expression is pathological (Ehrensaft, 2016), and when comorbidities are present, this is most likely due to negative social reactions to gender nonconformity (Hidalgo et al., 2013). As described by Keo-Meier and Ehrensaft (2018, p. 11), GD in its capitalised form is a DSM-5 diagnosis, but lower-case GD is the feeling that "something is not right" in relation to one's gender. This sense can manifest through body dysphoria, like chest- and genital dysphoria, but also entails distress associated with being gender nonconforming in a "cisgender world." Moreover, GD should be distinguished from other issues, which are best addressed by inspecting psychosocial experiences in the child's social environment and culture (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). Unless there is suspicion of cooccurring psychiatric issues, the young person is not subjected to comprehensive psychological evaluation (Hidalgo et al., 2013).

GAM clinicians advocate for attending to gender variance in children and young people enthusiastically; failing to do so will perpetuate binary gender norms which denies the existence of gender diversity (Baker-Siroty & Hurd, 2020). Informed by a social constructionist framework, cultural sensitivity is necessary in clinical work with atypical gender identities and expressions. Especially as GAM clinicians consider gender to possibly be fluid, exist outside the traditional binary, and can change over time within a person (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). GAM calls for increased knowledge in health care professionals about new ways of seeing gender and sexuality, as well as calling for cultural social constructs of gender and sexuality to be re-evaluated. Children and young people should be free from imposed positions; gender identity and gender expression are considered basic human rights and clinicians should reflect on personal bias from experiences possibly distorting gender vision; such bias risks flawed clinical judgement (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018).

A central part of GAM's approach is the distinction between gender expression and gender identity in order to tell apart the children who will need hormonal interventions at the start of puberty. Gender expression is the manner in which a child presents their gender to others, for example, through physical appearance, preferred playmates, and activities (Hidalgo et al., 2013). For GAM clinicians, expressions of gender offer valuable insight to whether a child is exhibiting gender exploration with acceptance of natal sex, or exhibit a persistent gender identity in need of future treatment (Ehrensaft, 2016). The attempt to distinguish children in this way derives from research suggesting the majority of children will not seek medical transitions and be gender dysphoric by the time puberty sets in (Steensma et al., 2011).

Interventions

From the above clinical views about gender identity and right to authentic gender expression, GAM facilitates hormonal interventions for young adolescents in the first stages of puberty (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). What is now dubbed "gender affirmative" treatment entails administration of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) analogues to halt pubertal development of secondary sex characteristics, hormone therapy to promote masculinisation or feminisation of outer appearance, and various surgical interventions to further alter the body as desired by the individual (Coleman et al., 2011; Hembree et al., 2009).

Puberty Blockers

Dutch gender specialists pioneered the use of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) analogues, colloquially known as "puberty blockers" or "blockers" (PBs; Soh, 2021, p. 140). Prior to being used off-label, PBs were used to manage precocious puberty in children (Carel & Léger, 2008). Since the 2000's, this has become a common treatment intervention for young people with GD across European countries, as well as in North America and Australia (Arnoldussen et al., 2020). Based on data from its original purpose, PBs are considered safe and fully reversible (Aaserud, 2021). Two functions justify its use for GD treatment. First, halting natural puberty can offer young adolescents more time to explore gender and for the family to figure out the next steps. Second, PBs prevent masculinisation or feminisation of the body, thereby facilitating a more successful transition by avoiding changes hard to reverse later (Coleman et al., 2011). Despite these advantages, the use of PBs remain controversial, with some regarding its use experimental (Vrouenraets et al., 2015; Giovanardi, 2017).

According to a 2011 study, positive outcomes of well-being were found in a highly selected group of adolescents who reached a strict diagnostic threshold for GD. These participants had histories of GD in childhood and did not have significant psychiatric issues. At age 12, they were offered blockers, before later progressing to cross-sex hormones and surgery (Cohen-Kettenis et al., 2011). Since then, however, the same results have not been replicated and data showing the long-term effects of PBs are lacking (Schagen et al., 2016). While this research is heavily relied on when using PBs to treat GD in young people, the findings are not necessarily generalisable to adolescent-onset GD manifestations in youth with severe psychiatric comorbidities.

Cross-Sex Hormones

For females, cross-sex hormones (CSH) include testosterone which promotes the masculinisation of outer appearance. This treatment is considered partially reversible and has typically been offered to clients aged 16 and over (Coleman et al., 2011; Hambree et al., 2009). After 2-5 years, and dependent upon individual difference, the full effects of testosterone are visible. Testosterone usually produces a deepened voice, clitoral enlargement, facial and body hair growth, as well as decreased body fat compared to muscle mass (Coleman et al., 2011). Once maximum effects are achieved, lowered maintenance doses are necessary with regular monitoring and comprehensive testing of bodily health is necessary (Hambree et al., 2009).

Individual factors impact the safety of testosterone-use and adverse outcomes cannot be predicted. Prior to administration, screening candidates for health risks is important. For example, those with family histories of oestrogen-dependent cancers are at increased risk when taking testosterone (Moore et al., 2003). Other risks include high cholesterol, polycythaemia, sleep apnoea, weight gain, acne and balding, increased risk of blood clots and type 2 diabetes. Testosterone may also destabilise pre-existing psychiatric issues, like bipolar or schizoaffective disorder (Coleman et al., 2011). Current guidelines recommend patients be psychiatrically evaluated and acute comorbidities should be prioritised before initiating CSH. Future fertility and other risks impacting the person's life should be discussed thoroughly (Coleman et al., 2011; De Sutter, 2009).

Surgical Interventions

Females often desire a mastectomy, euphemistically referred to as "top surgery," meaning breast-removal (Beek et al., 2015; Wilson et al., 2018, p. 679). Genital surgery is less

common, likely because it is a complex procedure with significant risks. Constructing a neopenis in female patients through a phalloplasty typically entails taking skin from the forearm and connecting this tissue to the clitoral nerves, which maintains erogenous sensibility. In addition, implantation of erection and testicular prosthesis can be done (Colebunders et al., 2017). Accompanied by phalloplasty is the partial or full removal of the vagina (vaginectomy; Siedhoff et al., 2019). These procedures are often referred to as "bottom surgery" (Siedhoff et al., 2019, p. 155). Other genital surgeries a female may elect to undergo is removing the uterus (hysterectomy) or constructing a neo-scrotum (sctotoplasty; Chang & Ferrando, 2021). Non-genital surgeries may also be done, such as liposuction, lipofilling, pectoral implants, or other aesthetic procedures (Coleman et al., 2011).

Not all transgender people desire complete transition; some are contented with an androgynous appearance and others may experience adequate relief from partial treatment. Beek and colleagues (2015) found partial treatment to be mostly desired for those with non-binary gender identities. While earlier research report few females desire genital surgery (Ergeneli et al., 1999), an increasing number wish to undergo full "sex reassignment surgery" (Beek et al., 2015, p. 2201).

Critique of Other Clinical Approaches

Prior to GAM's popularisation, two clinics Toronto and Amsterdam held leading roles in transgender treatment for decades, and contributed important research and clinical experience with respect to the various needs of gender-questioning young people (de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012). In Ontario, psychologist Kenneth Zucker and psychiatrist Susan Bradley built their approach on a psychodynamic model to explain a patient's desire to transition to the other gender. Through naturalistic interventions, this approach aimed to help children become comfortable in their bodies and thereby, avoid transitioning (Zucker, Wood, et al., 2012). From the Amsterdam clinic, the Dutch Protocol emerged and is currently informs the treatment approach at Norway's National Treatment Service for Gender Incongruence (NBTS; Aaserud, 2021). This model is sometimes called "watchful waiting" as it carefully monitors psychosexual development in children, with neutral interventions (de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012; Aaserud, 2021, p. 94).

Both the above approaches refrain from premature gender identity confirmation and transitioning based on two key points revealed by research. First, children display increased flexibility and fluidity in gender identity compared to adolescents and adults (Zucker et al.,

2012). Whereas the Dutch Protocol favours non-interference and neutral observation of children, Zucker and colleagues (2012) used naturalistic interventions and psychotherapy for the family to elucidate what might cause atypical gender identification in the child. Second, the available data suggests some 80% of GD gender will eventually cease to feel dysphoric and therefore, not seek medical interventions after the onset of puberty (Steensma et al., 2011; Steensma et al., 2013). Those who desist usually become lesbian, gay, or bisexual in adulthood (Cohen-Kettenis & Pfäfflin, 2003; Wallien & Cohen-Kettenis, 2008).

Thus far, there is no consensus on how best to treat young people with gender identity issues. With limited scientific knowledge, perspectives differ on how prepubertal children, early adolescents, and youth should be managed (e.g., de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012; Ehrensaft, 2011; Hidalgo et al., 2013). International guidelines provided by WPATH, articulated in the Standards of Care (SoC, no. 7; Coleman et al., 2011) and the Endocrine Society (Hambree et al., 2009) offer recommendations for transgender treatment. However, these guidelines are not requirements and are found to be based on limited and weak scientific data of poor quality (Byne et al., 2012; Dahlen et al., 2021). Consequently, the treatment of GD varies greatly between clinicians and across clinics, while gender identity theory and the process of depathologising atypical gender identities have had significant impact.

From the process of depathologising atypical gender identities and the common acceptance of gender identity theory, two points of contention with other treatment approaches have paved the way for GAM. These controversies concern criticism of conducting practices akin to "conversion therapy" (see Singal, 2016) and for "gatekeeping" through the adherence to diagnostic and eligibility criteria in order for transgender people to access transition-interventions to express their gender (Ashley, 2019).

"Conversion Therapy"

Zucker and colleagues faced persistent criticism for their treatment approach at the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health in Toronto, Canada (CAMH) (Singal, 2016). CAMH clinicians implemented naturalistic interventions to help aligning the child's gender identity with natal sex, while reducing GD distress (Zucker et al., 2012). The interventions they employed were sensitive to the ample opportunity for children to be confused about their gender, and avoiding medical transitions were considered a successful outcome (Aaserud, 2021). The clinic was also reluctant to participate in the growing popularity of GAM; this

hesitation primarily stemmed from the available data on desistence and the flexible nature of children's gender identity (Steensma et al., 2011).

Parents of children with atypical gender identities and GD were encouraged to promote more nuanced same-sex interactions for their child, for example, by enrolling them in team activities or facilitating friendships with older same-sex peers. Gender consolidation often happens within the context of same-sex peers, which was the rationale behind interventions (Maccoby, 1998; Meyer-Bahlburg, 2002). In addition, the family unit was offered psychotherapy in order to reveal potential underlying mechanisms causing GD in the child, while exploring parents' contributions to GD. The clinicians emphasised the need to evaluate each patient individually within their biopsychosocial context and did not recommend a child socially transition as this could generate persistent GD and cross-sex identification (Aaserud, 2021; Zucker et al., 2012).

Treating problems though to underlie the GD symptoms was done with the hope that the child would feel less distress (Aaserud, 2021). In the event that the child did not desist and their GD experience intensified during puberty, the CAMH clinic facilitated medical transitions. The malleability of gender identity in adolescents and adults appears to be more fixed, especially when GD has been present since childhood (Zucker et al., 2012). When a young person with childhood GD persists in in their cross-sex identification, this approach suggests the use of biomedical interventions as the appropriate way to alleviated GD distress as this will more likely lead to better psychosocial adaption and life-quality (Zucker, Bradley, et al., 2012).

The approach's apparent preference for a non-transgender outcome for children was heavily criticised as "conversion therapy," and persistent activist pressure led to the clinic being forcibly closed in 2015 (Singal, 2016). Despite the clinic's leading role in the field of GD, the interventions used were considered unaccepting of children's authentic gender identities through attempts to change the child's experienced gender. Critics of CAMH felt unaccepting and non-affirming practices were akin to earlier psychiatric efforts to change a person's homosexual orientation. In addition, CAMH clinicians conceptualised GD as a mental disorder, which is in conflict with newer conceptualisations of gender variance and gender identity theory (Coleman et al., 2011).

Arguably, most psychiatric and medical professionals agree conversion therapy is harmful and ineffective (Levine, 2018). From LGBT surveys, most of the reported attempts to conduct such treatment happens in religious communities (Flores et al., 2020). The reification

of this debate likely builds on the assumption that gender identity is the same as sexual orientation, and therefore, deserving of acceptance, affirmation, and freedom to express themselves (Soh, 2020). Suggestive of this elision are the many publications on transgender treatment employing research on the ineffective attempts to change sexual orientation to support its equal ineffectiveness for children with GD. For example, SoC converge on the conclusions that it is harmful and unethical to attempt to change a child's gender identity by citing two studies form the 1960's showing unsuccessful conversion efforts for homosexual people (see Cantor, 2020; Coleman et al., 2011).

In other words, SoC rely on sexual orientation and gender identity constituting the same, or at least very similar, concepts for their claims to be supported. Such a view is likely influenced by the shared history of gender- and sexual minorities as disadvantaged and pathologized groups. An additional rationale might be the shared expression of gender variance; gender nonconformity is common in children who later become LGB adults, but also present in those who become transgender adults (e.g., Green, 1987). From this, some have noted the conflation between sexual orientation and gender identity (e.g., Soh, 2022; Stock, 2022). In light of the earlier mentioned tendency to conflate gender expression and gender identity, it is perhaps not surprising that wanting clarifications in relation to these terms create confusion.

The similarity of sexual orientation and gender identity, however, is not immediately apparent when it serves as an argument for allowing children to socially transition and eventually undergo medical treatments. The ineffectiveness of homosexual conversion therapy is largely grounded in the stability of same-sex attraction and because sexual orientation originates due to factors outside individual control (Stock, 2022; Pluckrose & Lindsay, 2020). The same cannot be said for children with GD, as is clear from the rates of desistance in this population. While Zucker and colleagues' (2012) naturalistic interventions could be seen as an attempt to change gender identity and this effort might be ineffective, there is little else indicating that gender identity is stable and unchangeable in childhood. Sexual orientation and gender identity appear to depart in this regard, thus the similarity between the two concepts does not fulfil the needed extent of similarity to function as an argument for affirmative care interventions for GD children.

The literature also alludes to the assumption that the same ameliorative effect produced by depathologising non-heterosexual orientations, will produce similar outcomes for

transgender people. As understood from the process of depathologising transgender identities, this is thought to reduce stigma toward gender variant individuals, thereby alleviating the additional psychiatric problems in this population (Hidalgo et al., 2013). This development has increased acceptance and affirmation, both culturally and clinically, in relation to transgender people. Thus, the assumption seems to be that if LGB people enjoy better well-being with fewer instances of societal rejection and stigma, but instead are affirmed and accepted, similar outcomes will occur in the transgender population. In other words, affirmation of homosexual identities produces the same results as affirmation of gender identities.

Research does indicate that those with non-heterosexual orientations and transgender identities benefit from social support, accepting environments, and reduced stigma (e.g., Olson et al., 2016), which is likely true for most minority groups. A significant difference arises when acceptance, affirmation, and freedom of gender expression is taken from the cultural realm and applied within a clinical setting. Herein, affirming a sexual orientation does not require that which is necessary for a transgender adolescent or adult. The affirmation of gender identities at odds with natal sex requires modification of the social environment, as well as physical modification in many cases (Coleman et al., 2011). Sexual orientations, on the other hand, come equipped with the tools necessary to live and explore life as gay or bisexual.

Inspired by Sasha Ayad (2020b), we might consider the following practical example of affirmation of sexual orientation and gender identity. For a same-sex attracted or bisexual person, discovery of attraction usually occurs relatively early, prior to puberty. During the teenage years, they may explore romantic and sexual relationships with prospective partners. With such experience, sexual identity becomes better consolidated and they more confidently know to whom they are attracted. Apart from parental support, little else is strictly necessary to affirm and allow the young person to live as gay or bisexual. This is not to minimise the strain of negative attitudes or internal difficulty with non-heterosexual orientations, but assuming the young person is loved and accepted after coming out, little else is required.

Affirming a young person with GD, on the other hand, necessitates significant alterations, both socially and physically. Typically, a new name and pronouns are adopted, and these are required used by parents and the social environment. That is, the social environment has to accommodate to linguistic change, but also adjust their perceptions of the

young person as a different gender. Parents might struggle to view their daughter as a son, because this contrast what they have always known about their child. Often, parents are offered books or other material to understand and learn about transgender identities. These steps are necessary in order to confirm to the young person that they are who they say they are. Moreover, confirmation of gender identity often requires hormone therapy and surgery so the young person can further affirm their psychological perceptions. Unlike sexual orientations, transgender people face a conflict of reality.

In the absence of physical modifications and a willing social environment, the transgender person will not be confirmed as the gender they innately experience, nor will they be perceived by others in a way matching their internal gender identity. External modifications require the psychological compliance of parents, siblings, peers, teachers, and others. In addition, the field of medicine is required to further confirm gender identity via biomedical and surgical tool. With this in mind, sexual orientation and gender identity seem to differ in important ways.

We may also consider the relatively few obstacles in the way of changes in sexual orientations, compared to gender identity change after interventions have occurred. As Ayad (2020b) observes, a teenager may initially be attracted to both sexes, but with dating and relationship experience conclude they are exclusively same-sex attracted or heterosexual. Apart from announcing this to others, the person can continue with life and progress through developmental stages associated with the teenage years. A transgender person, on the other hand, does not have a similarly easy path in the event of regret or gender identity change. If a child has lived in the opposite gender role for a prolonged time, re-identification with natal sex may be difficult (Churcher Clarke & Spiliadis, 2019). If irreversible procedures have been done, life for a female with permanent masculinisation may encounter a new form of GD as her physical characteristics no longer match her gender identity (Ayad, 2020b). Against this background, hesitation to facilitate treatment based on the similarity of sexual orientation and discordant gender identities seems warranted.

Nevertheless, the increasing adherence to GAM with emphasis on gender affirmation and treatment-facilitation to allow for gender expression, seems to remove neutral ground within the clinical context. Claims of conversion therapy may be warranted and the interventions used by clinicians at CAMH could be ineffective, but this does necessarily equate to endorsing the very opposite approach of affirmation with subsequent transitioning.

The relative absence of a neutral space between these camps is observed by several clinicians (e.g., Churcher Clarke & Spiliadis, 2019; Levine, 2021; Wren, 2014). Moreover, the turn toward framing treatment-hesitation or well-meaning questions in the assessment phase as transphobic and unethical (Ashley, 2019; L. Littman, 2018), has reduced the opportunity for the clinician to explore preceding events or other driving factors in GD experience (Bannermann, 2019).

Particularly through the inclusion of gender identity and gender expression as a human right, also in relation to medical treatment as the YP (2007) articulate, moral indictments are levied against cautious clinical practice with criticism of discrimination (Ashley, 2019). The criticism of conducting conversion therapy seems to neglect that little is still known about atypical gender identity development (Levine, 2021), and little is known about the efficacy of transitions in producing a life of well-being (Dhejne et al., 2011). Arguably, clinical caution is not primarily rooted in a desire to discriminate against transgender people, but rather an expression of a genuinely difficult and complex issue to solve. Nor does it seem non-recognition or gender identity discrimination is central to clinical caution. If, for example, a non-binary individual with a broken arm is refused help based on their gender identity, this would be discriminatory. However, the current standard procedures of medical transitions lack the evidential basis necessary to justify its administration, regardless of the recipient's gender identity.

"Gatekeeping"

As noted earlier, the Dutch protocol informs Norway's official treatment practice for gender incongruent people (Aaserud, 2021). This model retains neutral interventions are warranted for children based on the available evidence suggesting the majority of GD children eventually desist and will therefore not seek medical interventions (Steensma et al., 2011). Children's gender identity development is monitored over time as their psychosexual development is considered best helped by keeping options open (Di Ceglie, 2014). When GD does not remit in adolescence, hormone treatments are administered once the young person is considered eligible, which is decided by receiving a GD diagnosis, having a supportive environment, and the relative absence of psychiatric issues impacting diagnosis and treatment (de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012).

Throughout the assessment phase, a team of psychiatrists conduct a number of sessions with the adolescent, the parents, and the family unit together. The Dutch protocol

seeks to establish open and non-judgemental rapport with patient and parents. Information provided by the parents is considered valuable as they can offer insights about the young person's functioning individually, with family, and peers. Parents are also important for establishing the presence of GD symptoms in childhood, while also providing information about whether GD is possibly due to other issues, for example, confusion about homosexual orientation (Cohen-Kettenis & de Vries, 2012).

If present, psychiatric issues are prioritised when seen as interfering with diagnostic evaluation or treatment. Psychiatric comorbidity is not necessarily indicative of not being eligible, but psychological functioning must be stable and not interfere with determining the presence of GD (Coleman et al., 2011). This model also recognises the need for social support systems given the far-reaching implications of treatment would be difficult to manage without support. The family and patient are informed of alternative treatments and extensive discussions can prevent the young person forming unrealistic expectations of what a transition will achieve. Patient responses to alternative therapies can be diagnostically relevant (de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012).

Whereas the clinical practice at CAMH was criticised for "conversion therapy", the Dutch Protocol faces criticism for "gatekeeping" treatment by relying of diagnostic criteria and comprehensive medical and psychiatric assessments (Ashley, 2019; Wahl, 2022). A broad critique is that the "gatekeeping" function of clinicians expects a transgender person to prove their identity and GD distress in order to access treatment, with the result that some patients embrace and internalise a distress-narrative in preparation to tell the clinician what is expected and to meet criteria (Schulz, 2018). Consequently, some advocate for the de-medicalisation of transgender treatment with informed consent as the only requirement (Ard & Keuroghlian, 2018). Here, the psychiatric role is removed, while the surgeon serves as a provider for the consumer, effectively based on individual desire.

Adhering to diagnostic criteria and psychological evaluations in the assessment of eligibility for receiving medical interventions can be viewed from the ethical principle of doing no harm (nonmaleficence; Varkey, 2021). A traditional interpretation of this principle is in the context of transgender treatment understood in terms of the possible future harm done to patients who receive unnecessary hormone therapy or surgeries (Cretella, 2016). Today, concerns about future harm is compounded by limited evidence of the benefits and outcomes, in addition to increasingly complex GD manifestations (Zucker, 2019). It is not exactly clear what

constitutes harm in relation to transgender treatment and debate prevails with regard to how the "gates" should be kept.

Nonmaleficence is understood differently, and perhaps more subjectively, by others. For example, in relation to hormonal interventions for adolescents with GD, "doing no harm" is not the same as doing nothing. According to transgender activist Luca Dalen Espseth, denying puberty suppression and cross-sex hormones for young people can cause harm, and is not a neutral option (Wahl, 2022). In support of this view, WPATH's Standards of Care (Coleman et al., 2011) state that withholding PBs and CSH allows puberty to promote development of secondary sex characteristics, which can prolong and worsen GD. In addition, natural puberty can produce changes resulting in physical appearance possibly eliciting stigma and discrimination later on. As such, refusing treatment is considered unethical and may cause future harm (Coleman et al., 2011).

These criticisms seem to fit well with the depathologisation of transgender identities, the assumption that their psychiatric comorbidities are caused by the external environment (Schulz, 2018), and the right to express gender via medically transitioning, if this is desired (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). With acceptance of gender identity as informed through privileged access and a fundamentally important aspect of personal identity (Wren, 2014), gatekeeping treatment is questionable. Indeed, gatekeeping treatment by allowing some, but not all, atypical gender identities access to treatment appears to breach with the human rights perspective, while it pathologises gender variance, in addition to denying some the right to express their gender identity in an authentic way (The Yogyakarta Principles, 2007).

Dr Joanna Olson-Kennedy, a specialist in adolescent medicine, for example, is a supporter of this latter view. To her, nonmaleficence comes from a historically paternalistic position wherein doctors are given the role of deciding what is harmful and not. This, according to Olson-Kennedy, "...in the world of gender, is really problematic" (cited in Cretella, 2016, p. 50). This view is echoed by others who find the clinical context to be characterised by power imbalance between clinician and patient; asymmetric power balances rests on the assumption that the professional knows what is the best treatment for the individual, and thereby holds authority to over-rule patient autonomy and opportunity to take part in treatment decisions (e.g., Aaserud, 2021).

Despite this, new cultural gender identity conceptualisations have no bearing on the established need to implement medical interventions only after sufficient evidence undergirds

its implementation as effective and beneficial to the recipient (Levine, 2018). If this is not the case, then a complete restructuring of evidence-based medical conduct would be necessary, effectively making an expression of desire the decisive criterion for treatment, removed from ethical considerations of the harm or help this offers the individual. Some do advocate for this (Schulz, 2018). Furthermore, it would be naïve to believe that this will not have ramifications for other areas of medicine as well. This rationale seems to blame an inconsiderate medical institutions and Western science for the difficulty found in remedying GD. The reason medication and surgeries have been withheld and continue to be characterised by hesitation is not malevolence or moral fault, but the insufficient evidence extant to tell us clearly that treatment does work, and in fact remedies the struggle associated with GD (Levine, 2018; Anderson, 2018).

Many clinicians agree that a transition can help a GD person live life with more ease, including the clinicians at CAMH (Zucker et al., 2012). The core issue resides in the lack of knowledge about whom will benefit; an issue exacerbated by the complex clinical presentations among young females with severe comorbidities and unclear gender identities (Zucker, 2019). Thus far, the few comprehensive studies available do not allow for optimism in this regard (Bränström & Pachankis, 2020b; Dhejne et al., 2011; Simonsen et al., 2016). Clinicians should be concerned with what happens to their patients when they move through life (Levine, 2021), but as Wren (2014) observed some years ago, clinicians are positioned in a context where Enlightenment knowledge and science are in contrast with postmodern cultural beliefs about gender.

Affirmation and Informed Consent

It appears opinions about transgender phenomena, as well as beliefs and knowledge about scientific data, impact each clinician in their work with gender-questioning and GD young people (Levine, 2021; Cretella, 2016). Through the controversies discussed above, in addition to increasing popularity of gender identity affirmation and treatment-facilitation, informed consent has come to replace comprehensive psychological assessments and exploration of why an atypical gender identity has developed. In this context, there might be opportunity for erroneous affirmation and unnecessary treatment, facilitated by clinicians tasked with the responsibility to obtain informed consent to ensure the patient understands the physical and psychological benefits and risks of treatment, in addition to psychosocial implications (Coleman et al., 2011).

In the controversy and lack of knowledge about how best to treat GD patients who request biomedical interventions, informed consent has become highlighted. While an important clinical principle, informed consent sets the minimal safeguard. Often, informed consent is obtained to prevent the imposition of treatment contrary to the wishes of the patient (Brunskell-Evans, 2019). According to GAM clinicians, and Standards of Care (Coleman et al., 2011), assessing the young person's ability to provide informed consent is necessary, but a range of ethical and practical issues are argued to hamper this process in relation to transgender treatment. For the clinician, patient, and parents, some issues may prevent accurate assessment of informed consent.

For informed consent to be valid, the patient needs to be informed of all necessary information. Arguably, receiving powerful drugs only partially reversible, the clinician should have comprehensive knowledge about the risks and benefits. This knowledge, however, is wanting in research, therefore wanting in the clinician (Malterud, 2020). With regard to PBs, these are only considered safe and reversible in the sense that when treatment is stopped, the body will commence pubertal development. In other words, very little is known about the psychological implications on cognitive and emotional maturation (Giovanardi, 2017). In terms of CSH and surgeries, the relative ability of these treatments to remedy GD are largely unknown (Cretella, 2016). Many young females report initial relief and are enthusiastic about having started treatment, but the long-term effects are uncertain (Churcher Clarke & Spiliadis, 2019). In this way, informed is compromised and could facilitate interventions for the wrong candidates.

Exacerbating this difficulty are some clinicians' beliefs about transitioning as the only remedy for GD, thereby having a sense of saving lives (Levine, 2018). We might suspect the compassionate impulse to help influences the way in which information is provided to parents and adolescent, framed within the context of a transition as necessary regardless of the treatment-seeker's ability to understand. For example, a GIDS-related study, parents were not adequately informed of the significant likelihood of their child progressing to CSH after receiving PBs (Cohen & Barnes, 2019). This bit of information appears important to mention as it will nuance the presentation of PBs as a "pause button" allowing for time to consider next steps (e.g., Coleman et al., 2011). Often, the adolescent and parents are primed by online content prior to seeking hormonal treatment (L. Littman, 2018). Many online information pages omit or misrepresent extant research and fail to convey the risks properly, while using medical jargon (Dunford et al., 2019). Skewed presentations appear relevant for obtaining

informed consent in the clinical setting as transitioning is pre-emptively assumed to be the only remedy.

Such pre-emptive conclusions can lead to a rapid progression from initial assessment to obtaining informed consent. A central element in the assessment phase has been to conduct psychological assessment to evaluate the relative ability in the young person to understand and consent to treatment (de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012). However, not all clinicians conduct such assessments unless suspecting the presence of a disrupting problem needing to be prioritised (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018). Again, the clinicians' beliefs about the role of co-morbidities matters as some see additional psychiatric illnesses as externally imposed upon the patient and not due to the nature of the misaligned gender identity (Levine, 2021). Moreover, SoC's recommendation that psychiatric conditions should be reasonably well managed prior to transition interventions is an entirely subjective assessment (Janssen et al., 2019; Levine, 2021). From the available literature, clinical certainty about the relationships between comorbidities remain uncertain, but the SoC offer a way around this issue nonetheless, and informed consent can be obtained (Coleman et al., 2011).

For the adolescent, a weakened ability to provide valid informed consent is apparent in the ability to understand and comprehend risks and benefits based on the developmental stages they are in. Knowledge about behaviour and maturity in adolescence is important to policies about informed consent. Depending on the situation, authorities like the American Psychiatric Association and American Medical Association have offered different information about knowledge of adolescent cognitive maturity. For example, in a 2005 court case, a 17-year-old convicted of murder escaped the death penalty after both the AMA and APA detailed adolescent brain development as fundamentally set apart from adults. In contrast, APA considered a 14-year-old's decision to have an abortion as unproblematic because decision-making at this age is indistinguishable from that of an adult (see Johnson et al., 2009). The latter example seemingly illustrates better contemporary views on adolescents' ability to consent.

In furtherance, adolescents are found to have weaker impulse-control, feel strong emotions that are more volatile, and have a reduced ability to consider long-term consequences (Romer, 2010; Tonkin, 1987). Often, young gender-questioning people present at clinics with an adamant belief that they truly are transgender, while intensely believing their ills will be alleviated by transitioning (L. Littman, 2018). As one qualitative study shows, transgender

young people express that long-term consequences would not stop them from starting treatment, and possible negative effects are incomparable to the happy life they will come to live (Vrouenraets et al., 2016). With little research offering positive outcomes after treatment, a discrepancy seems to be present in some young people. Their belief that transitioning will bring about a happy life is not shown in research, but they receive this message somehow from external sources (Soh, 2020). Rapid assessment and affirmation are not likely to nuance or lessen this treatment-desire. Rather this approach might facilitate and magnify the young person's beliefs that transitioning is the only way, thereby weakening informed consent.

When both clinician and adolescent share the belief that distress arises from external sources and the only way to solve GD is to alter the physical body, and that this will offer a new life of well-being, what does this convey to the young person? Anderson (2018) argues the validity of informed consent is compromised because the young person is offered the narrative conveying to them that the way they feel will never change, unless a transition is initiated. Alternative therapies possibly able to ameliorate their distress are neglected. Can true informed consent be given when transition steps are presented and understood, both by clinician, patient, and parents, to be the only solution? An added effect of this process is the message that treatment-refusal will lead to increased suicidal risk.

In 2011, Dr Joanna Olson, a lead research in the field, explained in an interview with ABC News how she asks parents if they would "rather have a dead son than a live daughter" in reference to the "astronomical" suicide rates in this population (Patria & Lovett, 2011). Whereas some criticise this narrative for exploiting the deepest of parental fears and weaponizing empathy (Soh, 2021), it appears effective in the process of obtaining informed consent and placing young people on a medical transition pathway. Clinicians should also be cautious of how they are co-authoring a narrative that transitions are the only option, possibly weakening the young person's and parents' ability to consider other options.

Some have questioned whether the reduced focus on assessment and critical questioning, in favour of affirmation, amounts to an abdication of professional responsibility (e.g., Littman, 2018b; Anderson, 2018). Arguably, because non-standard gender identities are considered normal developmental diversity and to be unchangeable (Keo-Meier & Ehrensaft, 2018), clinicians under the auspices of GAM will offer affirmation and acceptance of the asserted gender identity in the treatment-seeking young person; atypical gender identity is not a symptom, but an authentic identity (Ehrensaft, 2011). According to Levine (2021), common

clinical practice when a new symptom occurs is to look at events prior to its manifestation, but newer conceptualisations of gender identity may not allow for such questions, perhaps because it pathologises transgender individuals or risks being labelled as conversion therapy. Consequently, less exploration of GD and its origins may occur, while the clinician takes at face-value the self-diagnosis of the young patient. As Littman (2018b) argues, the young person is not a trained mental health professional and the clinical assessment and treatment plan should not be informed by the patient alone.

In furtherance, the responsibility of the clinician is present regardless of the young person's relative accuracy in self-assessment. Parental insights are typically employed to offer a comprehensive understanding of the young person's development and functioning (de Vries & Cohen-Kettenis, 2012). In today's climate, however, some parents are frustrated when their adolescent is not adequately evaluated for comorbidities, but rather quickly affirmed and offered hormones (Littman, 2018b). Young patients may misrepresent parental reactions to their new gender identity, and it is not unreasonable to suggest some young people frame their parents as unaccepting or transphobic, which does not make parental insights in the clinical setting more likely. Importantly, the young person should be listened to, not dismissed or ignored. Both careful listening and clinical evaluation can be done, even if GAM favours the confirmation of self-assessment. Such an assessment process is likely helped by verification from parental insights about the child's history; is their account at odds with, or similar to, the young person's account? (Littman, 2018b). In the event that parents are prevented from taking part in the assessment and gender identity assertions are taken at face value, clinical facilitation of misguided transitions could occur.

An illustrating example of this effect comes from former GIDS clinicians who found fault with senior management when instructed to refrain from asking about sexual orientation in patients, even if suspected to impact the motivation to transition (Bannermann, 2019). As described earlier, some young females harbour difficulty in relation to sexual orientation and struggle with internalised homophobia from negative social responses or coming out as transgender after intense bullying based on perceived orientation (Wood et al., 2013). Motivation to detransition supports this as some eventually come to understand their difficulties with same-sex attraction generated GD (Littman, 2021). If attempting to elucidate and disentangle the young person's perceptions of sexuality are off-limits in the clinical setting, young people may receive invasive treatments unable to resolve their issues, which would constitute nothing less than a disservice to the patient. The observed disinterest in

adolescent confusion about homosexuality and hasty assessment risks transitioning young homosexuals into young heterosexuals; possibly representing a new form of conversion therapy (Bannermann, 2019).

Churcher Clarke and Spiliadis (2019) argue the critical necessity of keeping a space open for exploration and investigation of young people's gender identity assertions. The inherent in betweenness of adolescence, in combination with the various psychological problems they present with, requires a broader approach than mere affirmation and treatment facilitation. Some detransitioners report they were not assessed comprehensively enough (Littman, 2021). How should this be interpreted in the current context? (Littman, 2021). This becomes more pressing in light of the limited scientific knowledge about the developmental trajectories of adolescents with transgender identities and the low-quality data that treatment is based upon (Cohen-Kettenis & Klink, 2015; Dahlen et al., 2021). Follow-up studies have long been the standard for implementation of methods and the field of medicine has managed cultural criticism and pressure in other contexts. However, this is not the case with transgender medicine (Levine, 2018). In this context, ideological and cultural views about gender and sex have come to hold hands with medicine, but the consequences of this might not reveal themselves until unnecessary damage is done. Perhaps this is what paediatrician and researcher Pål Surén observes as a central issue; fundamentally different ways of viewing the world manifest themselves in transgender debates, and the GD condition's link to medical transitions gives gender nonconformity a dark side (in Masvie, 2021). Hesitance to confront this conflict within the contemporary culture could generate rising numbers of transgender identification and treatment-desire. Indeed, we might ask how the processes covered in this thesis could generate anything but a growing transgender population.

Conclusion

In sum, far-reaching and pivotal developments have taken place with respect to transgender phenomena. The complex and novel clinical presentation constituted by a "new generation" of gender dysphoric female adolescents has placed clinicians and the field of psychiatry in an uncertain position. Through depathologising transgender identities, the conceptualisation of transgender identities has in important ways altered both medical and public perception of atypical gender identities. With good intentions, this process has declared transgender people as representatives of mental health but remain a population burdened by societal stigma and rejection for displaying gender nonconformance. Not all agree on this, however, and there is no certainty that the conflict with reality - the body - for some people can generate psychiatric comorbidities. Nonetheless, what appears to be a primarily psychological condition is treated increasingly outside the realm of psychiatry, and more firmly within medicine. Increased access to biomedical transitions and depathologisation has arguably increased clinic-referrals. Thought diagnostic inflation and dilution, young people encounter a framework for interpretation that can allow for adopting GD as an explanation.

In tandem with depathologisation of transgender identities, a cultural shift has occurred, which cements gender identity as an innate and fundamentally important aspect of personal identity. Information about this identity is gained through privileged access and cannot be refuted by others; the subjective self is the authority and self-deception is not possible. At the same time, gender identity's positioning within a political and human rights paradigm has secured the right to express gender identity through whatever may be desired, even biomedical treatments. While a postmodern framework struggles to account for the GD experience as arising directly from a non-belonginess in the physical body, gender identity theory cannot either locate a brain structure aspect proving how gender identity truly resides in the mind. Notwithstanding, gender identity prevails as a deeply important concept reliant upon, and justified by, its subjectivity. Continued rising rates, especially in young females, is likely to ensue in light of radical subjectivity. After all, these are ideological claims unsupported by an evidential basis.

Whereas other treatment approaches have contributed valuable insights to the needs of transgender people, sensitive to the individuality and complexity in each person's experience, the gender affirmative model has come to triumph through a cultural and medical processes, which appears to significantly risk erroneous affirmations and identifying the wrong candidates for transitioning. The research remains undecided in terms of the benefits and

efficacy of transgender treatment. The critiques of conversion therapy and gatekeeping can be considered to pave the way for intensified focus on gender identity and transitions, with the only criteria for eligibility being informed consent. This criterion is weakened by the many ways in which current discourse polarises perspectives, in particular the fear of suicide. Through depathologisation, gender identity theory in culture and its acceptance in the clinical setting, affirmation and transitions seem to be the natural outcome. Taken together, one might wonder how the processes contended with in this thesis could produce anything but increased transgender identification and treatment-desire.

References

- "Your guide to socially transitioning". (2017, December 25). Retrieved from https://www.minus18.org.au/articles/your-guide-to-socially-transitioning
- Aitken, M., Steensma, T. D., Blanchard, R., VanderLaan, D. P., Wood, H., Fuentes, A., Spegg, C., Wasserman, L., Ames, M., Fitzsimmons, C. L., Leef, J. H., Lishak, V., Reim, E., Takagi, A., Vinik, J., Wreford, J., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., de Vries, A. L., Kreukels, B. P., & Zucker, K. J. (2015). Evidence for an altered sex ratio in clinic-referred adolescents with gender dysphoria. *J Sex Med*, 12(3), 756-763. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsm.12817
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). *Diagnosticand statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed.).
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5
- Anderson, R. T. (2018). When Harry became Sally: Responding to the transgender moment.
- Arcelus, J., & Bouman, W. P. (2015). Current and future direction of gender dysphoria and gender incongruence research. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 12(12), 2226-2228.
- Ard, K. L., & Keuroghlian, A. S. (2018). Training in sexual and gender minority health-expanding education to reach all clinicians. *The New England journal of medicine*, 379(25), 2388-2391.
- Arnoldussen, M., Steensma, T. D., Popma, A., van der Miesen, A. I., Twisk, J. W., & de Vries, A. L. (2020). Re-evaluation of the Dutch approach: are recently referred transgender youth different compared to earlier referrals? *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(6), 803-811.
- Ashley, F. (2019). Gatekeeping hormone replacement therapy for transgender patients is dehumanising. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 45(7), 480-482.
- Askevis-Leherpeux, F., de la Chenelière, M., Baleige, A., Chouchane, S., Martin, M. J., Robles-García, R., Fresán, A., Quach, A., Stona, A. C., Reed, G., & Roelandt, J. L. (2019). Why and how to support depsychiatrisation of adult transidentity in ICD-11: A French study. *Eur Psychiatry*, *59*, 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.03.005
- Ayad, S. (2020, August 20). [Video]. Effects of affirmation: Gender identity vs sexual orientation.
- Ayad, S. (2020, July 29). Exploring gender identity: Facilitating or twarting development? YouTube.

- Baker-Siroty, L., & Hurd, T. (2020). Book Review: The gender affirmative model: An interdisciplinary approach to supporting transgender and gender expansive children. In: SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA.
- Bannermann, L. (2019). It feels like conversion therapy for gay children, say clinicians. *The Times*. https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/it-feels-like-conversion-therapy-for-gay-children-say-clinicians-pvsckdvq2
- Bartlett, N. H., Vasey, P. L., & Bukowski, W. M. (2000). Is gender identity disorder in children a mental disorder? *Sex Roles*, 43(11), 753-785.
- Bayne, T., & Levy, N. (2005). Amputees by choice: body integrity identity disorder and the ethics of amputation. *Journal of applied philosophy*, 22(1), 75-86.
- Bechard, M., Vanderlaan, D., Wood, H., Wasserman, L., & Zucker, K. (2016). Psychosocial and Psychological Vulnerability in Adolescents with Gender Dysphoria: A "Proof of Principle" Study. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 43. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2016.1232325
- Beek, T. F., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & Kreukels, B. P. (2016). Gender incongruence/gender dysphoria and its classification history. *Int Rev Psychiatry*, 28(1), 5-12. https://doi.org/10.3109/09540261.2015.1091293
- Beek, T. F., Kreukels, B. P., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & Steensma, T. D. (2015). Partial Treatment Requests and Underlying Motives of Applicants for Gender Affirming Interventions. *J Sex Med*, *12*(11), 2201-2205. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsm.13033
- Beemyn, G., & Rankin, S. (2011). *The Lives of Transgender People*. Columbia University Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7312/beem14306
- Bertie, A. (2016). AM I A BOY? [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YEpFm4YC6FM
- Blanchard, R., Clemmensen, L. H., & Steiner, B. W. (1987). Heterosexual and homosexual gender dysphoria. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *16*(2), 139-152.
- Bradley, S. J., Blanchard, R., Coates, S., Green, R., Levine, S. B., Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F., Pauly, I. B., & Zucker, K. J. (1991). Interim report of the DSM-IV Subcommittee on Gender Identity Disorders. *Arch Sex Behav*, 20(4), 333-343. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf01542614
- Brunskell-Evans, H. (2019). The medico-legal 'making' of 'the transgender child. *Med Law Rev*, 27(4), 640-657. https://doi.org/10.1093/medlaw/fwz013

- Bränström, R., & Pachankis, J. E. (2020a). Reduction in mental health treatment utilization among transgender individuals after gender-affirming surgeries: a total population study. *American journal of psychiatry*, 177(8), 727-734.
- Bränström, R., & Pachankis, J. E. (2020b). Toward Rigorous Methodologies for Strengthening Causal Inference in the Association Between Gender-Affirming Care and Transgender Individuals' Mental Health: Response to Letters. *Am J Psychiatry*, 177(8), 769-772. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2020.20050599
- Butler, J. (1986). Sex and Gender in Simone de Beauvoir's Second Sex. *Yale French studies*, 72(72), 35-49. https://doi.org/10.2307/2930225
- Butler, J. (1988). Performative acts and gender constitution: An essay in phenomenology and feminist theory. *Theatre journal*, 40(4), 519-531.
- Byne, W., Bradley, S. J., Coleman, E., Eyler, A. E., Green, R., Menvielle, E. J., Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F., Pleak, R. R., & Tompkins, D. A. (2012). Report of the American Psychiatric Association task force on treatment of gender identity disorder. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 41(4), 759-796.
- Cantor, J. M. (2020). Transgender and Gender Diverse Children and Adolescents: Fact-Checking of AAP Policy. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 46(4), 307-313. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2019.1698481
- Carel, J.-C., & Léger, J. (2008). Precocious puberty. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 358(22), 2366-2377.
- Chang, O. H., & Ferrando, C. A. (2021). Surgical Anatomy Hysterectomy for Transgender Men. In (pp. 101-113). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-18533-6_8
- Churcher Clarke, A., & Spiliadis, A. (2019). 'Taking the lid off the box': The value of extended clinical assessment for adolescents presenting with gender identity difficulties. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 24(2), 338-352. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104518825288
- Clerkin, E. M., & Teachman, B. A. (2008). Perceptual and cognitive biases in individuals with body dysmorphic disorder symptoms. *Cognition and Emotion*, 22(7), 1327-1339.
- Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & Klink, D. (2015). Adolescents with gender dysphoria. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 29(3), 485-495.
- Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & Pfäfflin, F. (2003). *Transgenderism and intersexuality in childhood and adolescence: Making choices* (Vol. 46). Sage.

- Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & Pfäfflin, F. (2010). The DSM diagnostic criteria for gender identity disorder in adolescents and adults. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *39*(2), 499-513.
- Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., Schagen, S. E., Steensma, T. D., de Vries, A. L., & Delemarre-van de Waal, H. A. (2011). Puberty suppression in a gender-dysphoric adolescent: a 22-year follow-up. *Arch Sex Behav*, 40(4), 843-847. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-011-9758-9
- Colebunders, B., Brondeel, S., D'Arpa, S., Hoebeke, P., & Monstrey, S. (2017). An update on the surgical treatment for transgender patients. *Sexual medicine reviews*, *5*(1), 103-109.
- Coleman, E., Adler, R., Bockting, W., Botzer, M., Brown, G., Cohen-Kettenis, P., ..., & Zucker, K. J. (2011). Standards of care for the health of transsexual, transgender, and gender nonconforming people. Retrived from www.wpath.org
- Cretella, M. A. (2016). Gender dysphoria in children and suppression of debate. *Journal of american Physicians and Surgeons*, 21(2), 50-54.
- Custers, K. (2015). The urgent matter of online pro-eating disorder content and children: clinical practice. *Eur J Pediatr*, *174*(4), 429-433. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-015-2487-7
- Dahlen, S., Connolly, D., Arif, I., Junejo, M. H., Bewley, S., & Meads, C. (2021). International clinical practice guidelines for gender minority/trans people: systematic review and quality assessment. *BMJ Open*, *11*(4), e048943. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-048943
- Dawson, J. (2020). Fears about transgender people are a distraction from the real struggles all women face. *Time Magazine*. https://time.com/5865581/transphobia-terf-harm/
- de Beauvoir, S. (1949). The second sex.
- De Sutter, P. (2009). Reproductive options for transpeople: recommendations for revision of the WPATH's standards of care. *International Journal of Transgenderism*, 11(3), 183-185.
- de Vries, A. L., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2012). Clinical management of gender dysphoria in children and adolescents: the Dutch approach. *J Homosex*, *59*(3), 301-320. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2012.653300
- de Vries, A. L., Doreleijers, T. A., Steensma, T. D., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2011).

 Psychiatric comorbidity in gender dysphoric adolescents. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*,

 52(11), 1195-1202. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02426.x

- de Vries, A. L., Klink, D., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2016). What the primary care pediatrician needs to know about gender incongruence and gender dysphoria in children and adolescents. *Pediatric Clinics*, *63*(6), 1121-1135.
- de Vries, A. L. C., Noens, I. L. J., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., Berckelaer-Onnes, I. A., & Doreleijers, T. A. H. (2010). Autism Spectrum Disorders in Gender Dysphoric Children and Adolescents. *J Autism Dev Disord*, 40(8), 930-936. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-0935-9
- Delvin, H. (2013). The girls who are destined to grow up as tomboys. *The Times*.

 https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/the-girls-who-are-destined-to-grow-up-into-tomboys-60pgv77cqxm
- Derrida, J. (1973). *Speech and Phenomena and Other Essays on Husserl's Theory of Signs*. Northwestern University Press.
- Dhejne, C., Lichtenstein, P., Boman, M., Johansson, A. L. V., Långström, N., & Landén, M. (2011). Long-Term Follow-Up of Transsexual Persons Undergoing Sex Reassignment Surgery: Cohort Study in Sweden. *PLoS One*, *6*(2), e16885. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016885
- Dhejne, C., Van Vlerken, R., Heylens, G., & Arcelus, J. (2016). Mental health and gender dysphoria: A review of the literature. *International review of psychiatry*, 28(1), 44-57.
- Di Ceglie, D. (2014). Gender dysphoria in young people. *Clinical topics in child and adolescent psychiatry*, 349-364.
- Drescher, J. (2010). Queer diagnoses: parallels and contrasts in the history of homosexuality, gender variance, and the diagnostic and statistical manual. *Arch Sex Behav*, 39(2), 427-460. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-009-9531-5
- Drescher, J., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & Reed, G. M. (2016). Gender incongruence of childhood in the ICD-11: controversies, proposal, and rationale. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*(3), 297-304.
- Drescher, J., & Haller, E. (2012). Position Statement on Discrimination
- Against Transgender and Gender Diverse
- Individuals https://www.psychiatry.org/File%20Library/About-APA/Organization-Documents-Policies/Position-2018-Discrimination-Against-Transgender-and-Gender-Diverse-Individuals.pdf

- Dunford, C., Gresty, H., Takhar, M., Morley, R., & Rashid, T. (2019). Transgender and adolescence: Is online information accurate or mis-leading? *European Urology Supplements*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/s1569-9056(19)31291-6
- Ehrensaft, D. (2011). Boys will be girls, girls will be boys: Children affect parents as parents affect children in gender nonconformity. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 28(4), 528.
- Ehrensaft, D. (2016). The gender creative child: Pathways for nurturing and supporting children who live outside gender boxes. The Experiment.
- Ergeneli, M. H., Duran, E. H., Ozcan, G., & Erdogan, M. (1999). Vaginectomy and laparoscopically assisted vaginal hysterectomy as adjunctive surgery for female-to-male transsexual reassignment: preliminary report. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 87(1), 35-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-2115(99)00091-3
- Fabiano, F., & Haslam, N. (2020). Diagnostic inflation in the DSM: A meta-analysis of changes in the stringency of psychiatric diagnosis from DSM-III to DSM-5. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 80, 101889.

 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101889
- First, M. B., & Fisher, C. E. (2012). Body integrity identity disorder: the persistent desire to acquire a physical disability. *Psychopathology*, 45(1), 3-14.
- Flores, A. R., Mallory, C., & Conron, K. J. (2020). Public attitudes about emergent issues in LGBTQ rights: Conversion therapy and religious refusals. *Research & Politics*, 7(4), 2053168020966874.
- Gaebel, W., Stricker, J., & Kerst, A. (2022). Changes from ICD-10 to ICD-11 and future directions in psychiatric classification. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*.
- Giordano, S. (2012). *Children with gender identity disorder: A clinical, ethical, and legal analysis*. Routledge.
- Giovanardi, G. (2017). Buying time or arresting development? The dilemma of administering hormone blockers in trans children and adolescents. *Porto Biomedical Journal*, *2*(5), 153-156. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2017.06.001
- Giovanardi, G., Vitelli, R., Maggiora Vergano, C., Fortunato, A., Chianura, L., Lingiardi, V., & Speranza, A. M. (2018). Attachment patterns and complex trauma in a sample of adults diagnosed with gender dysphoria. *Frontiers in psychology*, *9*, 60.
- Glidden, D., Bouman, W. P., Jones, B. A., & Arcelus, J. (2016). Gender dysphoria and autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of the literature. *Sexual medicine reviews*, 4(1), 3-14.
- Golombok, S., & Fivuch, R. (1994). Gender Development. Cambridge University Press.

- Green, R. (1987). The Sissy Boy Syndrome
- The Development of Homosexuality. Yale University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt1ww3v4c
- Grosz, E. A. (1995). Space, time, and perversion: Essays on the politics of bodies.
- Gu, J., & Kanai, R. (2014). What contributes to individual differences in brain structure? *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 8, 262.
- Guarda, A. S. (2008). Treatment of anorexia nervosa: insights and obstacles. *Physiol Behav*, 94(1), 113-120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.11.020
- Hakeem, A. (2018). TRANS: Exploring gender identity and gender dysphoria.
- Halperin, D. M. (1997). Saint Foucault: Towards a gay hagiography. Oxford Paperbacks.
- Harshbarger, J. L., Ahlers-Schmidt, C. R., Mayans, L., Mayans, D., & Hawkins, J. H. (2009). Pro-anorexia websites: what a clinician should know. *Int J Eat Disord*, 42(4), 367-370. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20608
- Haslam, N. (2016). Concept Creep: Psychology's Expanding Concepts of Harm and Pathology. *Psychological Inquiry*, *27*(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840x.2016.1082418
- Hassett, J. M., Siebert, E. R., & Wallen, K. (2008). Sex differences in rhesus monkey toy preferences parallel those of children. *Hormones and Behavior*, *54*(3), 359-364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.03.008
- Hembree, W. C., Cohen-Kettenis, P., Delemarre-Van De Waal, H. A., Gooren, L. J., Meyer III, W. J., Spack, N. P., Tangpricha, V., & Montori, V. M. (2009). Endocrine treatment of transsexual persons: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 94(9), 3132-3154.
- Herman, J. L., Brown, T. N., & Haas, A. P. (2019). Suicide thoughts and attempts among transgender adults: Findings from the 2015 US Transgender Survey.
- Heyer, W. (2018). Trans Life Survivors. Walt Heyer.
- Hidalgo, M. A., Ehrensaft, D., Tishelman, A. C., Clark, L. F., Garofalo, R., Rosenthal, S. M., Spack, N. P., & Olson, J. (2013). The Gender Affirmative Model. *Human Development*, 56(5), 285-290.
- Hoffman-Fox, D. (2017). You and your gender identity: A guide to discovery.
- Independent Expert. (2018). Report of the Independent Expert on protection against violence and discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity. United Nations

- General Assembly. https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G18/132/12/PDF/G1813212.pdf?OpenElement
- Jagose, A. (1996). Queer theory: An introduction. nyu Press.
- Janssen, A., Busa, S., & Wernick, J. (2019). The Complexities of Treatment Planning for Transgender Youth with Co-Occurring Severe Mental Illness: A Literature Review and Case Study. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(7), 2003-2009. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1382-5
- Johnson, S. B., Blum, R. W., & Giedd, J. N. (2009). Adolescent Maturity and the Brain: The Promise and Pitfalls of Neuroscience Research in Adolescent Health Policy. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 45(3), 216-221. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.05.016
- Jones, M. E. (2014). Saving normal: an insider's revolt against out-of-control psychiatric diagnosis, DSM-5, Big Pharma, and the medicalization of ordinary life. *The Army lawyer*, 54.
- Jones, Z. (2013, September 10). "That was dysphoria?" 8 signs and symptoms of indirect gender dysphoria. Retrieved from https://the-orbit.net/zinniajones/2013/09/that-was-dysphoria-8-signs-and-symptoms-of-indirect-gender-dysphoria/
- Keo-Meier, C., & Ehrensaft, D. (2018). Introduction to the gender affirmative model.
- King, C. D. (1945). The Meaning of Normal. Yale J Biol Med, 17(3), 493-501.
- Kvale, S. (1995). Themes of postmodernity. *The truth about the truth: De-confusing and reconstructing the postmodern world*, 18-25.
- Lawrence, A. A. (2006). Clinical and theoretical parallels between desire for limb amputation and gender identity disorder. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *35*(3), 263-278.
- Levine, S. B. (2018). Ethical concerns about emerging treatment paradigms for gender dysphoria. *Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy*, 44(1), 29-44.
- Levine, S. B. (2021). Reflections on the Clinician's Role with Individuals Who Self-identify as Transgender. *Arch Sex Behav*, *50*(8), 3527-3536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-021-02142-1
- List of LGBTQ+ terms. (n. d.). *List of LGBTQ+ terms*,. https://www.stonewall.org.uk/help-advice/faqs-and-glossary/list-lgbtq-terms
- Liszewski, W., Peebles, J. K., Yeung, H., & Arron, S. (2018). Persons of nonbinary gender—awareness, visibility, and health disparities. *The New England journal of medicine*, 379(25), 2391.

- Littman, L. (2018). 51.2 Peer Group and Social Media Influences in Adolescent and Young-Adult Rapid-Onset Gender Dysphoria. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *57*(10, Supplement), S73-S74. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.310
- Littman, L. (2018). Parent reports of adolescents and young adults perceived to show signs of a rapid onset of gender dysphoria. *PLoS One*, *13*(8), e0202330. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202330
- Littman, L. (2021). Individuals Treated for Gender Dysphoria with Medical and/or Surgical Transition Who Subsequently Detransitioned: A Survey of 100 Detransitioners. *Arch Sex Behav*, 50(8), 3353-3369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-021-02163-w
- Lopez, G. (2018). Myth #1: Transgender people are confused or tricking others.

 https://www.vox.com/identities/2016/5/13/17938090/transgender-people-tricks-confused
- Lorber, J. (2006). Shifting paradigms and challenging categories. Soc. Probs., 53, 448.
- Lukianoff, G., & Haidt, J. (2018). The coddling of the American mind: how good intentions and bad ideas are setting up a generation for failure. Penguin Press.
- Maccoby, E. E. (1998). *The two sexes: Growing up apart, coming together* (Vol. 4). Harvard University Press.
- Masvie, A. E. (2021). Barnehage fortalte barn at «man kan være hvilket kjønn man vil».

 Deretter insisterte jente (3) på at hun var gutt. *Minerva*.

 https://www.minervanett.no/bufdir-fhi-fri/barnehage-fortalte-barn-at-man-kan-vaere-hvilket-kjonn-man-vil-deretter-insisterte-jente-3-pa-at-hun-var-gutt/389851
- Mayer, L. S., & McHugh, P. R. (2016). Sexuality and gender: Findings from the biological, psychological, and social sciences. *The New Atlantis*, 10-143.
- McHugh, P. R. (2016). Transgender surgery isn't the solution. *Wall Street Journal*.

 https://www.wsj.com/articles/paul-mchugh-transgender-surgery-isnt-the-solution-1402615120
- Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F. (2002). Gender identity disorder in young boys: A parent-and peer-based treatment protocol. *Clinical child psychology and psychiatry*, 7(3), 360-376.
- Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F. (2010). From mental disorder to iatrogenic hypogonadism: dilemmas in conceptualizing gender identity variants as psychiatric conditions. *Arch Sex Behav*, 39(2), 461-476. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-009-9532-4
- Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F. L., Leibowitz, S., & Leibowitz, S. (2018). Gender Diversity Meets the 21st Century: Social Media and Peer Influences on Adolescent Gender Identity

- Formation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 57(10, Supplement), S73. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.308
- Meyer, J. K. (1982). The theory of gender identity disorders. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 30(2), 381-418.
- Minkowitz, T. E. (2016). Female Autonomy vs Gender Identity A critical analysis of gender identity in CEDAW jurisprudence and the Yogyakarta Principles. In.
- Money, J., Hampson, J. G., & Hampson, J. L. (1957). Imprinting and the Establishment of Gender Role. *A.M.A. Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry*, 77(3), 333-336. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurpsyc.1957.02330330119019
- Moore, E., Wisniewski, A., & Dobs, A. (2003). Endocrine treatment of transsexual people: a review of treatment regimens, outcomes, and adverse effects. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 88(8), 3467-3473.
- Nieder, T. O., Herff, M., Cerwenka, S., Preuss, W. F., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., De Cuypere, G., Haraldsen, I. R. H., & Richter-Appelt, H. (2011). Age of onset and sexual orientation in transsexual males and females. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 8(3), 783-791.
- Oakley, A. (1972). Sex, gender and society.
- Olsen, V. K. B. (2014). Kronikk: Et kjønn som ikke passer.

 https://www.aftenposten.no/meninger/kronikk/i/lv5M/kronikk-et-kjoenn-som-ikke-passer
- Olson, K. R., Durwood, L., DeMeules, M., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2016). Mental Health of Transgender Children Who Are Supported in Their Identities. *Pediatrics*, *137*(3). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-3223
- Pasterski, V., Geffner, M. E., Brain, C., Hindmarsh, P., Brook, C., & Hines, M. (2011).

 Prenatal hormones and childhood sex segregation: Playmate and play style preferences in girls with congenital adrenal hyperplasia. *Hormones and Behavior*, *59*(4), 549-555.

 https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.02.007
- Paxton, S. J., Schutz, H. K., Wertheim, E. H., & Muir, S. L. (1999). Friendship clique and peer influences on body image concerns, dietary restraint, extreme weight-loss behaviors, and binge eating in adolescent girls. *J Abnorm Psychol*, 108(2), 255-266. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-843x.108.2.255
- Pfäfflin, F., & Junge. (1998). Sex Reassignment. Thirty Years of International Follow-up Studies after Sex Reassignment Surgery. A Comprehensive Review, 1961-1991.
- Pilcher, J., & Whelehan, I. (2016). Key concepts in gender studies. Sage.

- Pinker, S. (2018). *Enlightenment now: the case for reason, science, humanism, and progress*. Allen Lane.
- Pluckrose, H., & Lindsay, J. A. (2020). *Cynical theories: How activist scholarship made everything about race, gender, and identity—and why this harms everybody.*Pitchstone Publishing (US&CA).
- Prokhovnik, R. (2002). Rational Woman: A Feminist Critique of Dichotomy (2 ed.).
- Rafferty, J. (2018). Ensuring Comprehensive Care and Support for Transgender and Gender-Diverse Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*, *142*(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-2162
- Reed, G. M., Drescher, J., Krueger, R. B., Atalla, E., Cochran, S. D., First, M. B., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., Arango-de Montis, I., Parish, S. J., Cottler, S., Briken, P., & Saxena, S. (2016). Disorders related to sexuality and gender identity in the ICD-11: revising the ICD-10 classification based on current scientific evidence, best clinical practices, and human rights considerations. *World Psychiatry*, *15*(3), 205-221. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20354
- Ristori, J., Cocchetti, C., Romani, A., Mazzoli, F., Vignozzi, L., Maggi, M., & Fisher, A. D. (2020). Brain sex differences related to gender identity development: Genes or hormones? *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(6), 2123.
- Romer, D. (2010). Adolescent risk taking, impulsivity, and brain development: implications for prevention. *Developmental psychobiology*, *52*(3), 263-276. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20442
- Rorty, R. (1995). Deconstruction. In R. Selden (Ed.), *The Cambridge History of Literary Criticism* (Vol. 8).
- Roselli, C. E. (2018). Neurobiology of gender identity and sexual orientation. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology*, 30(7), e12562. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jne.12562
- Rouleau, C. R., & von Ranson, K. M. (2011). Potential risks of pro-eating disorder websites. Clin Psychol Rev, 31(4), 525-531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.12.005
- Ruble, D. N., Martin, C. L., & Berenbaum, S. A. (2006). Gender development.
- Sax, L. (2002). How common is intersex? a response to Anne Fausto-Sterling. *J Sex Res*, 39(3), 174-178. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224490209552139
- Schagen, S. E., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., Delemarre-van de Waal, H. A., & Hannema, S. E. (2016). Efficacy and safety of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist treatment to suppress puberty in gender dysphoric adolescents. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, 13(7), 1125-1132.

- Schlax, J., Wiltink, J., Beutel, M. E., Münzel, T., Pfeiffer, N., Wild, P., Blettner, M., Kerahrodi, J. G., & Michal, M. (2020). Symptoms of depersonalization/derealization are independent risk factors for the development or persistence of psychological distress in the general population: Results from the Gutenberg health study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 273, 41-47.
- Schulz, S. L. (2018). The Informed Consent Model of Transgender Care: An Alternative to the Diagnosis of Gender Dysphoria. *The Journal of humanistic psychology*, *58*(1), 72-92. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167817745217
- Selkie, E., Adkins, V., Masters, E., Bajpai, A., & Shumer, D. (2020). Transgender adolescents' uses of social media for social support. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 66(3), 275-280.
- Serano, J. (2007). Whipping Girl.
- Shaffer, D., Campbell, M., Cantwell, D., Bradley, S., Carlson, G., Cohen, D., Denckla, M., Frances, A., Garfinkel, B., Klein, R., Pincus, H., Spitzer, R. L., Volkmar, F., & Widiger, T. (1989). Child and adolescent psychiatric disorders in DSM-IV: Issues facing the work group. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 28(6), 830-835. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-198911000-00003
- Shrier, A. (2020). *Irreversible Damage: The transgender craze seducing our daughters*. Regenery Publishing.
- Siedhoff, M., Samimi, P. A., & Marfori, C. Q. (2019). Hysterectomy for the Transgender Man. In (pp. 152-156). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-49642-1.00014-4
- Simonsen, R. K., Giraldi, A., Kristensen, E., & Hald, G. M. (2016). Long-term follow-up of individuals undergoing sex reassignment surgery: Psychiatric morbidity and mortality. *Nord J Psychiatry*, 70(4), 241-247. https://doi.org/10.3109/08039488.2015.1081405
- Singal, J. (2016). How the Fight Over Transgender Kids Got a Leading Sex Researcher Fired. https://www.thecut.com/2016/02/fight-over-trans-kids-got-a-researcher-fired.html
- Socialstyrelsen. (2020). Utvecklingen av diagnosen könsdysfori: Förekomst, samtidiga psykiatriska diagnoser och dödlighet i suicid.

 https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-
- Soh, D. (2020). *The End of Gender*. Treshold Editions.

dokument/artikelkatalog/ovrigt/2020-2-6600.pdf

Spitzer, R. L., & Wakefield, J. C. (1999). DSM-IV diagnostic criterion for clinical significance: does it help solve the false positives problem? *Am J Psychiatry*, *156*(12), 1856-1864. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.156.12.1856

- Squires, J. (1991). Gender in Political Theory.
- Steensma, T. D., Biemond, R., de Boer, F., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2011). Desisting and persisting gender dysphoria after childhood: a qualitative follow-up study. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*, *16*(4), 499-516. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104510378303
- Steensma, T. D., van der Ende, J., Verhulst, F. C., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2013). Gender variance in childhood and sexual orientation in adulthood: a prospective study. *J Sex Med*, 10(11), 2723-2733. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2012.02701.x
- Stock, K. (2022). Material girls: Why reality matters for feminism.
- Sumia, M., Lindberg, N., Työläjärvi, M., & Kaltiala-Heino, R. (2017). Current and recalled childhood gender identity in community youth in comparison to referred adolescents seeking sex reassignment. *Journal of adolescence*, *56*(C), 34-39.
- Tankersley, A. P., Grafsky, E. L., Dike, J., & Jones, R. T. (2021). Risk and resilience factors for mental health among transgender and gender nonconforming (TGNC) youth: a systematic review. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, 24(2), 183-206.
- Testa, R. J., Michaels, M. S., Bliss, W., Rogers, M. L., Balsam, K. F., & Joiner, T. (2017). Suicidal ideation in transgender people: Gender minority stress and interpersonal theory factors. *J Abnorm Psychol*, *126*(1), 125-136. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000234
- Testa, R. J., Sciacca, L. M., Wang, F., Hendricks, M. L., Goldblum, P., Bradford, J., & Bongar, B. (2012). Effects of violence on transgender people. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 43(5), 452.
- The Yogyakarta Principles. (2007). Yogyakarta Principles Principles on the application of international human rights law in relation to sexual orientation and gender identity. https://data.unaids.org/pub/manual/2007/070517_yogyakarta_principles_en.pdf
- Tonkin, R. S. (1987). Adolescent risk-taking behavior. *Journal of Adolescent Health Care*.
- Toomey, R. B., Syvertsen, A. K., & Shramko, M. (2018). Transgender Adolescent Suicide Behavior. *Pediatrics*, *142*(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2017-4218
- Trujillo, M. A., Perrin, P. B., Sutter, M., Tabaac, A., & Benotsch, E. G. (2017). The buffering role of social support on the associations among discrimination, mental health, and suicidality in a transgender sample. *Int J Transgend*, *18*(1), 39-52. https://doi.org/10.1080/15532739.2016.1247405
- Van Deusen, T. C. (2018). 51.1 "L": Internet Influence in the Childhood of a 20-Year-Old Transwoman's Gender Identity Development. *Journal of the American Academy of*

- *Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *57*(10, Supplement), S73. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2018.07.309
- VanderLaan, D. P., Postema, L., Wood, H., Singh, D., Fantus, S., Hyun, J., Leef, J., Bradley, S. J., & Zucker, K. J. (2015). Do children with gender dysphoria have intense/obsessional interests? *J Sex Res*, 52(2), 213-219. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2013.860073
- Varkey, B. (2021). Principles of Clinical Ethics and Their Application to Practice. *Medical Principles and Practice*, 30(1), 17-28. https://doi.org/10.1159/000509119
- Vrouenraets, L. J., Fredriks, A. M., Hannema, S. E., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & de Vries, M. C. (2015). Early Medical Treatment of Children and Adolescents With Gender Dysphoria: An Empirical Ethical Study. *J Adolesc Health*, 57(4), 367-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.04.004
- Vrouenraets, L. J. J. J., Fredriks, A. M., Hannema, S. E., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., & de Vries, M. C. (2016). Perceptions of Sex, Gender, and Puberty Suppression: A Qualitative Analysis of Transgender Youth. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 45(7), 1697-1703. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-016-0764-9
- Wahl, A. (2022, March 17). Folkeopplysningen Trans.
- Wakefield, J. C., & First, M. B. (2012). Validity of the bereavement exclusion to major depression: does the empirical evidence support the proposal to eliminate the exclusion in DSM-5? *World Psychiatry*, 11(1), 3-10. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wpsyc.2012.01.002
- Wallien, M. S., & Cohen-Kettenis, P. T. (2008). Psychosexual outcome of gender-dysphoric children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(12), 1413-1423.
- WHO. (n. d.). *WHO/Europe brief transgender health in the context of ICD-11*. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-determinants/gender/gender-definitions/whoeurope-brief-transgender-health-in-the-context-of-icd-11
- Wilson, S. C., Morrison, S. D., Anzai, L., Massie, J. P., Poudrier, G., Motosko, C. C., & Hazen, A. (2018). Masculinizing Top Surgery: A Systematic Review of Techniques and Outcomes. *Ann Plast Surg*, 80(6), 679-683. https://doi.org/10.1097/SAP.0000000000001354
- Wood, H., Sasaki, S., Bradley, S. J., Singh, D., Fantus, S., Owen-Anderson, A., Di Giacomo, A., Bain, J., & Zucker, K. J. (2013). Patterns of referral to a gender identity service for

- children and adolescents (1976-2011): age, sex ratio, and sexual orientation. *J Sex Marital Ther*, 39(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2012.675022
- World Health Organization. (1990). *International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems* (10 ed.).
- World Health Organization. (2018). *International Classification of Disease*. World Health Organization.
- Wren, B. (2014). Thinking postmodern and practising in the enlightenment: Managing uncertainty in the treatment of children and adolescents. *Feminism & psychology*, 24(2), 271-291. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353514526223
- Wæhre, A., & Tønset, K. A. (2018, March 23). Vi har fått en eksplosiv økning i antall tenåringsjenter som ønsker å skifte kjønn. Tar du ansvaret, Bent Høie? *Aftenposten*. https://www.aftenposten.no/meninger/kronikk/i/BJvg49/vi-har-faatt-en-eksplosiv-oekning-i-antall-tenaaringsjenter-som-oensker-aa-skifte-kjoenn-tar-du-ansvaret-bent-hoeie-anne-waehre-og-kim-alexander-toenseth
- Zucker, K. (2019). Adolescents with gender dysphoria: Reflections on some contemporary clinical and research issues. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(7), 1983-1992.
- Zucker, K. J. (2010). The DSM diagnostic criteria for gender identity disorder in children. *Arch Sex Behav*, 39(2), 477-498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-009-9540-4
- Zucker, K. J. (2017). Epidemiology of gender dysphoria and transgender identity. *Sex Health*, 14(5), 404-411. https://doi.org/10.1071/SH17067
- Zucker, K. J., Bradley, S. J., Owen-Anderson, A., Kibblewhite, S. J., Wood, H., Singh, D., & Choi, K. (2012). Demographics, behavior problems, and psychosexual characteristics of adolescents with gender identity disorder or transvestic fetishism. *J Sex Marital Ther*, 38(2), 151-189. https://doi.org/10.1080/0092623X.2011.611219
- Zucker, K. J., Cohen-Kettenis, P. T., Drescher, J., Meyer-Bahlburg, H. F., Pfafflin, F., & Womack, W. M. (2013). Memo outlining evidence for change for gender identity disorder in the DSM-5. *Arch Sex Behav*, 42(5), 901-914. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-013-0139-4
- Zucker, K. J., & Spitzer, R. L. (2005). Was the gender identity disorder of childhood diagnosis introduced into DSM-III as a backdoor maneuver to replace homosexuality? A historical note. *J Sex Marital Ther*, 31(1), 31-42. https://doi.org/10.1080/00926230590475251

- Zucker, K. J., Wood, H., Singh, D., & Bradley, S. J. (2012). A developmental, biopsychosocial model for the treatment of children with gender identity disorder. *J Homosex*, *59*(3), 369-397. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2012.653309
- Aaserud, R. (2021). *Kjønnsinkongruens hos ungdom : hvordan kan man forstå ungdom som er usikre på egen kjønnsidentitet?* (1. utgave. ed.). Gyldendal.